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THE EFFECTIVENESS OF U.S. OVERSEAS PRO-
GRAMS TO PROMOTE TOURISM AND TRAV-
EL TO THE UNITED STATES

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 28, 1995

House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on International Economic Policy

AND Trade,
Committee on International Relations,

Washington, DC.
The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 1 p.m., in room

2255, Ravburn House Office Building, Hon. Toby Roth (chairman
of the Subcommittee) presiding.

Mr. Roth. Let me welcome everyone here today to our hearing
on travel and tourism.
Tourism is the world's largest industry, amounting to $3.4 tril-

lion. For many countries, tourism is the No. 1 revenue producer.
As chairman of the Travel and Tourism Caucus, I, with the help
of the other caucus Members, will ensure that travel and tourism
receives its rightful place that it deserves in our economy. Travel
and tourism must be taken seriously.

Today we focus on our competitive position in the world tours
trade. International travel and tourism is now a $300 billion a year
global market. It has tripled in the last decade and will grow faster

in the next 10 years. For this reason competition is heating up, and
we must focus on our competitive position.

Travel and tourism is the biggest business in the United States,
generating $400 billion in our economy and employing six million
people. Another seven million jobs are affected by travel and tour-
ism.

International visitors have become important to our industry.
Last year, 45 million people visited the United States from coun-
tries for tourism, business, education, and other purposes. The $60
billion spent here provided nearly one million jobs for American
workers, and governments of the world over count international
travel industry income in their revenues.
When you look at all U.S. exports, travel and tourism accounted

for 11 percent last year, both goods and services. In my home State
of Wisconsin, for example, it generated some $6 billion in revenue,
and that is true for most States. International visitors account for

a quarter of a billion dollars to our home State economy of Wiscon-
sin. That translates into 5,000 Wisconsin jobs, just from foreign
visitors.

(1)



The 275 Members of the Travel and Tourism Caucus want to

focus on what we can do to help tourism, because tourism trans-

lates into iobs.

We do lace a problem, however. While the worid market is ex-

panding, the U.S. share is now shrinking. In fact, the U.S. share
of the world market is $2 billion smaller than it was last year and
is equivalent to only 16 percent of the world's market. We are los-

ing market share to other countries, and the question we want to

ask today is why. How do our tourism promotion programs stack
up against our competitors and what steps can be taken to reverse

the decline? We need answers to these questions, because tourism
is a growth industry worldwide.
To help examine these issues, we have some of the nation's best

experts in this industry. To lead off, we are going to have Mr. Greg
Farmer, our Undersecretary of Commerce for Travel and Tourism.
We are also going to hear from Senator Larry Pressler, chairman
of the Senate Commerce Committee and a real legislative leader on
tourism issues here in our Congress. We have an excellent panel
of industry leaders as well.

This hearing is also held in anticipation of an upcoming White
House conference on travel and tourism. Several weeks from now,
some 1,700 representatives will come to Washington to develop a
national tourism strategy. That will be our blueprint for future

tourism promotion efforts. I will bring the results of this hearing
as well as the recommendations of tne witnessses to the White
House conference.
The bottom line is that this market is vitally important to the

U.S. economy and to our employment base. This hearing will show
that we need a strong effort in the global market for jobs and for

a strong economy. Again, the Travel and Tourism Caucus wants to

make sure that tourism is now treated in our Congress with the

emphasis and the respect that it deserves. This is the biggest in-

dustry in America, and we want Congress to recognize not only the

importance of this industry, but what we as a Congress can do to

help.

Before we go on with our first witness, I would like to ask the

ranking Member, Mr. Gejdenson, who is very much in travel and
tourism, coming from a great State like Connecticut, if he has any
comments.
Mr. Gejdenson. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to com-

mend you for your work in this area and so many others. The bad
news is that while the Chairman is part of the majority party, and
that itself may be viewed as bad news by some—I would not bring

that kind of partisan note to this hearing—but his position does not

hold within his party.
Whether it is the entire Commerce department or the part that

deals with tourism, it is today under assault. If this was a debate

about foreign policy in the sense of defense issues, we would have
to talk about Neville Chamberlain's agreement with Mr. Hitler

over the Sudeten land, because as the rest of the world engages
tourism as a critical economic factor in international trade, the

United States, if it follows what has happened in the Congress,

House, and Senate, will soon unilaterally disarm. This is but one
area that will devastate America's future economy.



Now, you put aside the $11 billion or so trade surplus we get
from tourism, put aside how important it is to a vast array of
iobs—-vou know, we always talk about high-tech jobs, and there are
lots 01 high-tech jobs in tourism. The technology of tourism today
is not simply the bed and breakfast of the past, although they are
a very healthy and growing part of this business, but it provides
jobs at every level of an economy. No economy survives by just hav-
ing the big fancy jobs at the top. This provides entry level jobs, this

provides good, solid jobs, it provides part-time jobs for seniors, it

provides management jobs, and it brings hard profits into the Unit-
ed States.

I guess we should not be surprised that we are losing inter-

nationally when you find the number of Americans that do not
know the assets we have here at home, and so many travel abroad
before they even see any part of their own country. This country
is so vast, in some ways it is a bigger challenge to sell. If you have
got a small, compact country, it is easy to package that to people.
You know, "Come to our small country. It is an hour or two from
each side of the country, and here are the great things you can
see."

We have got a lot more. It takes a little longer. We may have
to sell this country as a country; we have to sell it as regions for

tourism, and it makes no sense at all, frankly, to try to do this

internationally from vour own home town. That is probably the
worst expenditure, although home town advertising can supple-
ment what we do as a nation.

So I just hope the chairman's excellent work—again, I want to
commend Chairman Roth and his position, because it takes some
courage to stand up on his side of the aisle. On our side of the
aisle, people always stand up, and it kind of leaves us in disarray,
sadly. But his standing up is something that we ought to remember
here, because he is addressing an issue that takes serious effort

and serious focus.

Greg, I just want to commend the job that you have done bring-
ing in the countryside, for the tourism conference, the first ever,
will make Washington work the way it is supposed to work. You
are going to hear from the people that are on the front lines, and
then we are going to set a national policy. You are not setting it

from the top down, you are doing it the way government is sup-
posed to do it. I just hope that whether it is in the final agreement
that keeps the government going, or what have you, that we do not
unilaterally disarm.
My State is going through tremendous economic upheaval. The

fall of the Soviet Union, its dissolution, has cut defense spending
significantly—tens of thousands of people are laid off. The changes
in the insurance industry—tens of thousands of people are being
laid off. Banking consolidation, the failure of the real estate mar-
ket—all those things have devastated the State of Connecticut. The
only single area where there has been growth is tourism. Without
that, we would have a net loss of jobs in the State. As it is, we are
not as strong as we would like to be. We obviously have a long way
to go, but we have had a plus in jobs—we have held our own in
jobs, frankly, not a plus in jobs—only because of tourism. That is

because of local and regional efforts and national efforts, and if we



give up on the national effort, we will not only lose as a nation but
families will be out of work, kids will not go to college, the cost to

the government for unemployment and welfare will go up.

To think that we are going to save $14 million to $16 million in

wiping out this critical function that brings in billions in profits to

the United States—I heard a lot of people talk about this new Con-
gress was going to run the way a business runs. Well, no business
in the world would endanger $1 1 billion of positive cash-flow for a
short-term savings of $14 million.

Thank you again. I commend Chairman Roth for his work and
look forward to nearing from Mr. Farmer.
Mr. Roth. Thank you very much, Mr. G^jdenson. I agree we

have to place an emphasis on promoting travel and tourism in our
country to make sure it receives the recognition it deserves for how
much it helps our economy. I think we are coming to that.

Let me say that we are still in the first inning of this legislative

struggle on tourism promotion programs, so we cannot count it out
yet. We must stand up and start focusing on travel and tourism.
Our hearing today is a good place to begin and in the end I think
that travel and tourism is going to be doing just fine.

First of all, let me say that we appreciate the people in the travel

and tourist industrv for what they are doing for our economy.
Mr. Roth. Now let me call on Greg Farmer, the Undersecretary

of Commerce for Travel and Tourism. Mr. Farmer, we are very glad
you are with us today.

Mr. Farmer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Roth. You are doing a super job, and the Members of Con-

gress want to commend you for that. Please proceed with your
statement and then we will have some questions.

Mr. Farmer. Good. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

STATEMENT OF GREGORY FARMER, UNDERSECRETARY OF
COMMERCE FOR TRAVEL AND TOURISM

Mr. Farmer. It is a pleasure to be here today and have the op-

portunity to talk about an issue in which every American has a
stake. The issue is whether the United States will continue to at-

tract its historic share of international travel and tourism.

Travel and tourism is the second largest employer in America,
after health care, and it employs either directly or indirectly 14

million people. The beauty of this industry as an employer is that

it reaches into every community—the big cities, the small towns,

along our ocean shores, and our inland waterways. It shows off

what is special because of our culture, our history, our natural

beauty.
Travel and tourism is indeed a major source of tax revenue, gen-

erating $58 billion in taixes. And it does produce a sizable trade

surplus, the height of which was in 1993 when it was $23 billion.

To put that in a frame of reference, that is equal to the deficit we
had with Japan in automobiles that year.

The opportunity that we as a nation have is greater than ever

before. In the year 2000, 661 million people will travel in the world.

That is twice as many that travelled in 1985. As those people trav-

el, they create jobs. Jobs with airlines, hotels, rental car companies.



restaurants and attractions. If the growing numbers of people trav-

el to the United States, those jobs will be created here.

But the current trend lines suggest that we have a serious prob-

lem. Since 1993, the U.S. share of worldwide international tourism
receipts have dropped from 18.7 percent to 15.6 percent. That
translates into a loss of more than 17 percent of our market—17

percent in 3 years.

That decline has a direct impact on our balance of trade. From
the chart at the end of this table, you will see that the industry's

surplus would have dropped to $18.1 billion, a drop of 19 percent
in just 2 years. But even more alarming than the drop in trade sur-

plus is the effect this is having on employment.
This loss has already meant 177,000 jobs which could have been

created in this country went elsewhere because the travelers went
elsewhere—177,000 jobs. That is equal to the number of jobs that
has been lost since 1992 through layoffs at General Motors, Boeing,
Digital, McDonnell Douglas, and Bell South, and the storm clouds

are only beginning to gather.
The U.S. share of international travel expenditures in the year

2000 is expected to plummet further to 13.8 percent, and that will

result in a U.S. loss of 26 percent of its market share. If we look

at it from the perspective of jobs, if we kept the same market
share, we would have created another 370,000 jobs, as well as

$28.5 billion in expenditures, and an additional $3.6 billion in tax

revenue.
We cannot allow this to happen. At a time when this nation is

losing tens of thousands of jobs, much in the way Mr. Gejdenson
explained it happened in Connecticut, we have got to be replacing

those jobs with where the growth is—the travel and tourism indus-

try.

So why is our nation's No. 2 industry failing, slipping, not keep-
ing up with market share? It is another case of American industry
failing to do what it must do to stay competitive. In many ways,
we are like the automobile industry was in the 1960's, comforted
by short-term revenue growth brought about by demographic
changes. We did not focus on the loss of market share, and by the
time we did, we had lost the commanding position we once enjoyed.

We should not make the same mistakes. Our country has failed

to make travel and tourism international marketing an economic
priority. For a decade, U.S.T.T.A. has been funded at lower levels

than the competition. In 1993, we ranked 33rd in the world in

terms of national tourism promotion budgets, lagging behind such
countries as Tunisia and Malaysia. At the same time, the United
States spends $16 million to promote itself, Greece spends $143
and Mexico $139.
But funding is not the only issue. What is needed now is a new

national tourism strategy, one that puts the muscle of the public

and private sectors together to market our nation. That strategy
will be unfolded at the end of this month, spurred on by President
Clinton's decision to host the first White House Conference on
Travel and Tourism. The conference takes place in Washington, DC
on October 30 and 31, and I hope as many Members of Congress
will participate as possible. At that time, leaders will gather to de-

velop and adopt a new strategy, a strategy that does in fact come



out of the fine work of the 50 States who have all had their White
House Conference on Travel and Tourism. In fact, more than
15,000 individuals have participated in that process—the first ever
White House conference that was done without any new appropria-
tion.

A fundamental feature of this new strategy is that we need a
new entity to market the United States. The U.S. Travel and Tour-
ism Administration needs to be replaced with a new public/private

partnership. A partnership in which industry and government have
confidence. A partnership which can be run with a relatively little

level of overhead and substantially more marketing impact, and it

should be judged by the return on investment as a criteria.

Australia and Canada have recently adopted similar public/pri-

vate partnerships. Each of them are now spending $100 million a
year in an aggressive new national tourism program, and you will

see—if I could take just a second—the results of that with two ads
from those two countries.

Mr. Gejdenson. That was Canada and
Mr. Farmer, Australia. The first one is Australia.

[Video.]

Mr. Farmer. Now we are going to show a Canadian actual com-
mercial.

[Video.]

Mr. Farmer. Mr. Chairman, there is no reason a new American
tourism partnership cannot be running ads of the same caliber in

the near future.

I am not here to argue for the status quo. As I have stated be-

fore, the United States needs to move to a new public/private part-

nership. However, it is important that U.S.T.T.A. be funded, at the

President's request, $16.3 million for one final year to transition in

a business-like fashion to this new partnership.

This transition period is enormously important. It gives us time
to begin implementing the recommendations that emerge from the
White House conference, time to kick off the 1996 Olympics in At-

lanta when the whole world will be watching. I think it would be
appropriate that one of the first things this new public/private

partnership does is to air TV ads about the United States during
the Olympics when the whole world is watching.
The opportunity that is before us is enormous, very exciting. We

know this industry is creating jobs. We know how to bring them
to the United States. The only question is, can we as a nation mo-
bilize both the private and public sectors to achieve this economic
growth?
The White House conference provides us a historic chance to

prove that we can. I hope that we will. I hope that we as a nation
seize this opportunity. Otherwise, the words of my Canadian coun-

terpart may well come to pass. Let me share with you a quote from
Doug Fife, head of the Canadian public/private partnership: "If the

U.S. Congress eliminates its national tourism office, it may well

make our job of attracting more international visitors to Canada
easier. More visitors will improve our balance of trade and create

more iobs for Canadians."
Let s keep these jobs in the United States. Thank you, Mr. Chair-

man.



[The prepared statement of Mr. Farmer appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Roth. Well, thank you very much for that excellent testi-

mony, Mr. Farmer. As I previously mentioned, we think you are
doing an excellent job over there and appreciate your efforts.

Mr. Farmer. Thank you.
Mr. Roth. Now, you suggest something that is somewhat revolu-

tionary here this afternoon. You proposed that the U.S.T.T.A. be
replaced with a public/private partnership. I sort of like that. It

sounds good. Have you talked with the other people in the Admin-
istration about thisr

Mr. Farmer. Yes, sir. And everyone is very supportive of it. We
have gone about it in a very business-like fasnion.

Mr. Roth. I was surprised by the idea of using advertisements.
These are very effective ads, especially the Canadian one. With the
Olympics, I like the idea of zeroing in on the Olympics and selling

America overseas.
I am really quite concerned about the drop—especially in inter-

national tourism—^that has taken place. From your testimony, it is

going to drop as much as a third

Mr. Farmer. Yes, sir.

Mr. Roth [continuing], in the next 6 years? That is really going
to hurt us. We are going to lose a lot of jobs because of that. From
the rough math I did here, it is going to be over 370,000 jobs. Is

that correct?

Mr. Farmer. Yes, sir. That is correct.

Mr. Roth. We are going to work hard here on Capitol Hill to

make sure that travel and tourism gets its recognition, but we need
help from the industry too. The perception here on Capitol Hill is

that travel and tourism really does not care, and we have got to

erase that perception. Actions on Capitol Hill have a tremendous
impact on travel and tourism. Therefore, a messsge is greatly need-
ed to show that the industry does care.

Let me ask you this. The visa waiver—a pilot program that Mr.
Gejdenson and I worked on some time ago—expires at the end of
the fiscal year of 1996. How effective has this program been in get-
ting visitors to choose the United States as their destination?
Mr. Farmer. It has been extremely effective. It is a clear signal

to the rest of the world that we do want people to visit our country.
It is being perceived around the globe as one of the user-friendly
things the United States is doing, because we have to make it easi-

er—we both have to let people know about the gn^eat parts of this

country. They know about the primarv destinations, but the rest of
it—^then we have to make it more efficient for them to get in this

country.
Today we have a problem in some countries of waiting for 12 to

15 hours in line to get a visa, and that is just simply acceptable.
So the fact of the matter is that the visa waiver program has been
a marvelous success. I would commend your fine work on it, but
I would also ask you all to consider making it permanent and ex-

pand it to include other countries in this post-cold war period. I

think it is more important than ever before that we be user-friend-
ly as a country, and that will be, Mr. Chairman, one of the rec-

ommendations at the White House conference.
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Mr. Roth. I see here the ads presented by other countries really

seem to be doing a great job getting their message out. What is the

reason for our U.S. decline? Is it the market share, or are we not
getting our message out, or are we sending the wrong message?
Enlighten us a little on that.

Mr. Farmer. Well, part of the problem is that we have some very
good people at U.S.T.T.A. who work very hard, but the sad fact is

that every year the competition spends more and more. We have
very few resources to get the message out, so the message is not
being heard. That is the problem, and that is one of the reasons

we are having such a difficulty.

The other issue, which I think is very important, is the increased

competition. If you were to apply this to a private sector model, it

would be like one of the major companies was no longer advertising

while the competition is increasing its advertising.

If I may, I would like to just comment on one of the things you
said earlier about the industry. I must say the single most reward-
ing thing in the last year has been the way the industry has be-

come partners with us through this White House conference. They
have literally given us everything from their headquarters to the

computers to top rate executives on loan and raised the money to

make this happen. So I believe very strongly that if Congress gives

us the year to transition, you will see the private sector there with

us to deal with this in the future.

Mr. Roth. We have been joined by one of the most forward look-

ing people in Congress, Jan Meyers.
Jan, nice to have you with us this afternoon.

Mrs. Meyers. Thank you. We are in a markup in another com-
mittee, so I may be in and out of this one this afternoon. But it

is certainly not because of lack of interest. Thank you for holding

this hearing.
Mr. Roth. Thank you, Jan.
I am going to ask our ranking Member, Mr. Grejdenson, if he has

some questions and something nice to say about the majority party.

Mr. Gejdenson. Well, I can always find something nice to say

about the gentle lady and yourself, Mr. Chairman. The rest of your
party would take even a little more creativity than I have, I am
afraid.

You know, it is mind boggling. If you look at the expenditure

that they are trying to wipe out—the $16 million—it is about $2.80

a visitor. That $2.80 a visitor obviously includes people from Can-

ada and Mexico who come in for the afternoon, and people who
come from all over the globe.

The average expenditures, including a Canadian that goes to

Buffalo or somebody fi-om Mexico who goes to El Paso, the average

expenditure is $1,500, plus air fare. So at least in a fair share of

those, American air carriers are making some money, and the

country benefits from that—employment and everything else. And
that air fare obviously ranges each way from $300 to thousands of

dollars, so it is very easy to look at $2,000 to $3,000 per person

when you get a tourist over here.

Now, the Canadians and the Australians think it is worth $7.10

a person to get people to their countries. It probably is. We have,

I think, a much better product. We are closer to Europe—^you



know, you have got to go after people who have money enough to

fly here. We are a leader in the world in every way. Our language
is the international language. Anybody who travels speaks English.

I was on my honeymoon in August and I was watching an Egyp-
tian talk to a Japanese tourist, and they were speaking English.
In Amsterdam, the local people were speaking English, even among
themselves it seemed, in the park.

So we are an easy country to come to. You come to France—^not

everybody speaks French or Spanish or Chinese or Grerman or all

the others. So linguistically we are the leader, and that makes it

easier to come here. We frankly have not had the strongest dollar

in this period of time where we have lost market share, so it is not
as if it is becoming increasingly difficult economically to come here.

To the contrary, it has become easier to come here, and we have
lost market share.

That should make us shudder. Because unless we set up the
strategy, and dollar strengths vary through the years—set up a
strategy that wins during the weak dollar—if we come to a strong
dollar, we will lose all of what we have left, and the impact of that
will be devastating.

In my area, the industry and the communities have pulled to-

gether. Anybody who thinks that industry is not ready to form a
partnership has not talked to industry. Industry understands the
nature of this challenge. You cannot advertise for one hotel in one
county, or even around the nation. You have got to get them here,

and we have got to do that together.

Again, I want to commend the chairman, because it is awfully
tough to go against your own leadership on an issue like this, and
I know Wisconsin is far away from most other places on Earth, but
I have been to Wisconsin and people will even want to go to Wis-
consin more regularly if we can keep your agency—I am not sure
I would want to go to Kansas unless visiting the gentle lady—but
every part of this country is marketable, it is sought after by for-

eigners.

We need to make it easier for them to get in here. I cannot tell

you how many people have trouble getting visas to come visit here
that have anchors, and significant anchors, back in their home
countries. It seems we let terrorists come in here, but if somebody
wants to visit their relatives here and spend some time here, we
give them a hard time. We have to reach out to these people.

I just want to commend you for what you are doing, and to hang
in there. These are tough times, but it is time we have got to be
very tough about it. Thank you.
Mr. Farmer. Thank you, Mr. Gejdenson.
Mr. Chairman, if I may just add a couple points to that.

Mr. Roth. Please. Proceed.
Mr. Farmer. First of all, I think Mr. Grejdenson is absolutely cor-

rect that the weak dollar has masked an even more serious prob-
lem of a market share erosion, and the fact of the matter is that
this country is beautiful, has great assets. People want to come
here and see it. But we do not do an adequate job of telling about
the product, we make it difficult for them to get in, and then we
are not user-friendly when they get here. That is all a part of the
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solution that the White House conference will be recommending to

make it a more customer-friendly focus.

I just want to reiterate that we are committed to working with
you to make sure that happens—because it is important, because
it is about jobs.

Mr. Roth. Let me turn to Jan Meyers and see if the gentle lady
from Kansas has any questions or comments she would like to

make.
Mrs. Meyers. Travel and tourism, in spite of what Mr. Gejden-

son thinks, is extremely important in the State of Kansas and
probably 1,000 jobs in the State of Kansas result from travel and
tourism. We too, although our State in some respects is not as dra-

matic, it is an incredibly beautiful State and we do have a number
of foreign visitors. Travel and tourism is tremendously important
for our country.

I am chairman of the Small Business Committee, and I think

that when people visit this country, they tend to want more than
to travel in this country. Many will subsequently trade with this

country, and do business in this country; and so the benefit from
travel and tourism goes a great deal beyond just that first visit. So
I am very pleased that we are holding the hearing today.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Roth. Thank you, Jan.
Mrs. Meyers. Mr. Chairman, I am in a markup, and I am going

to have to leave to cast a vote, and I will come back.

Mr. Roth. Thank you very much for your contribution.

Before we hear from our next witness, I'd like to ask one ques-

tion. Mr. Secretary, what can we, as the largest caucus on Capital

Hill, do to energize the industry to help us send the right message
out?
Mr. Farmer. I think, Mr. Chairman, the next 30 days are cru-

cial. I think in the next 30 days we have an opportunity to use the

caucus—we with the White House conference—and with the pri-

vate sector to make sure that we use this White House conference

as the vehicle for educating your colleagues who may not have
quite as much knowledge of this industry as you do to the impor-

tance that the decisions they make here impact jobs and export

growth and return on investment in this country.

We will work with you on that. I think everything from them
meeting with Members of their delegation coming up here to meet-

ing wim them after the White House conference to find out what
the agenda is and what needs to be done.

Mr. Roth. I thank you very much, Mr. Farmer. We want to work
with you. This is going to be a big conference on October 30 and
31, and we want to make sure that when this conference is con-

cluded, the travel industry can truly say the people in Washington
and the travel and tourist industry are in step. We want to do that

for the creation of jobs, for the good of the economy, and also to

raise the awareness of travel and tourism to the people here serv-

ing in Congress. All too often I have felt that the people in public

office were not sensitized enough to what travel and tourism can

do for unemployment and a strong economy, not only now but for

the future as well.

Thank you very much.
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Mr. Farmer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Roth. Thank you for appearing here today.

Now let us turn to our next witness, Senator Larry Pressler. Sen-
ator Pressler is chairman of the Senate Commerce Committee
which has jurisdiction over travel and tourism legislation in the
Senate.

Senator, we are glad that you are here with us today. You have
been a real leader for years on travel and tourism issues. This sub-

committee wants to work with you and help our tourist industry,

and we look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF LARRY PRESSLER, SENATOR FROM SOUTH
DAKOTA AND CHAIRMAN OF THE SENATE COMMITTEE ON
COMMERCE, SCIENCE AND TRANSPORTATION
Mr. Pressler. Mr. Chairman, thank you. I am going to ask you

now to place my statement in the record so I can summarize, be-

cause I know you have a lot of good witnesses and you probably
have a vote or two as we may have in the Senate in a few minutes.
I am going to compress this statement down. As Eisenhower said,

"If you are really smart, you can say it in one page." So I will try

to say it in two or three pages. How is that?
Thank you. Chairman Roth, for inviting me to testify and thank

you for holding a hearing on this important issue of how to promote
international tourism, because it is very important to the trade bal-

ance of our country. As has been pointed out, this is overlooked fre-

quently.
You know, the very first bill that the Republican Senate passed

in 1980 was the creation of the U.S.T.T.A., strangely enough, and
I was the author of it. So I remember it. And it was signed by Ron-
ald Reagan. Because we were trying to upgrade the tourism func-

tion in the department of Commerce.
Over the years, this has been an important function. Our trade

surplus in this sector is approximately $22 billion annually, and as
you know, Mr. Chairman, international tourists annually spend ap-
proximately $77 billion in the United States.

It is also important in my home State of South Dakota. It is our
No. 2 industry there. We have a number of attractions—people
have heard of Mt. Rushmore, but we also have everything from at-

tractions on Indian reservations to hunting, fishing, and even
camping in my home town of Humbolt, South Dakota.
Tourism is a major industry, and as chairman of the Senate

Committee on Commerce, Science and Transportation, I am ac-

tively searching for promotional opportunities. It is my honor to be
active as chairman of the Senate Caucus on Tourism.

I have done a number of things over the years, as I know you
have, Mr. Chairman. In May I wrote to Secretary of State Chris-
topher asking him to evaluate ways in which foreign service offi-

cers can become helpful to those seeking to travel to the United
States. I have urged that a part of their training should include the
importance of travel and tourism. I have urged that we consider,
if we can do it without spending much money, using part of our
international computer system to list a few points of destination in

each State.
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This spring I received a letter from a Spanish woman asking why
the U.S. Consulate and Embassy did not have a list of phone num-
bers for tourist information sources for travel destinations she was
considering. I believe this woman raises an important issue. Tour-
ist information of some sort should be readily available at all our
embassies and consulates so people can have a place to get started

in looking for destinations. Many other countries provide this serv-

ice. And I think we can do it without spending new monies.
Now, very frankly, Mr. Chairman, we have wrestled over in the

Senate witn what to do with the financial situation we have over
there in the Senate. I am very concerned about the ultimate dis-

solution of U.S.T.T.A., and I hope we can find some way to work
this out. But I have not been able to find the votes, very frankly,

for an amendment that I would like to join in offering.

Now, sometime in the next few days, the Senate is scheduled to

take up the Commerce Justice State appropriations bill. Presently

that bill only provides funds to close down U.S.T.T.A. I believe,

however, that funds should be provided at least to permit
U.S.T.T.A.'s involvement in the White House Conference on Tour-
ism and facilitate the implementation of a new public/private part-

nership for the promotion of international tourism and national

tourism.
In the House appropriations bill, an additional $2 million was

added for these activities. I support and intend to offer an amend-
ment to provide that additional $2 million in funds. Others are

likely to try for more funding, and I will keep looking for the votes,

but it is kind of hard over there to find much money. But I am
championing that cause.
Consequently I hope to obtain support in the Senate for a least

the $2 million and I hope more. I have been talking to other Sen-

ators. But I do want to thank you for holding this hearing. I think

you are going to highlight the issues that we are faced with. I

pledge to work with all interested parties as we seek to promote
the United States as a destination for international tourism.

I thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Pressler appears in the appen-

dix.!

Mr. Roth. Thank you. Senator, for your testimony.

I just have one quick question. I am concerned about the

U.S.T.T.A. and what we can do to save it. Secretary Farmer ap-

peared while you were voting and he discussed a very interesting

proposal. It focused on replacing the U.S.T.T.A. with a public/pri-

vate partnership, if we could keep it going for 1 year.

I wonder if we could make headway on that in the Senate? I am
going to talk to our Members over on the House side to see if this

would be possible. I do not think it should be a difficult sell if we
get the industry to support us. It would be similar to you walking

over to the Senate floor and saying, "If you put in $2 in this stock,

in 6 months it will be worth $60." Every Senator would invest.

That is what we are doing here, we are investing.

If we work with Mr. Farmer, there is a way that we could save

these jobs, because that is our goal. Support from the industry

would make anything possible. We have 275 Members on our side

in the largest caucus on the House side. If we cannot save some-
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thing like U.S.T.T.A., then we have not told our story. We have got
a great story to tell on travel and tourism, but we are not telling

it.

Mr. Pressler. Well, I thank you very much for those comments,
and I hope I can find a way to help find a public/private partner-
ship. I know there are some models in some other countries where
this is done.
Back when we had the legislation in 1980 to create the

U.S.T.T.A. within the Department of Commerce, the original

thought was that we would not necessarily spend much more
money. We would shuffle things around. I am meeting with the
Secretary of Commerce this afternoon—I guess maybe they have
been shuffled so much that there is nothing more to shuffle. But
if there is a way we could do this on a partnership basis—well,

there must be. Because if we get results, I would think the indus-
try might be able to help us out substantially in making the part-

nership a success.

But I think it would be a great feat to vou and to our country
if you could craft a plan, and I would be glad to try it out over in

the Senate. Believe me, we are struggling over there with this rec-

onciliation. I am a Member of the Senate Finance Committee, and
we are struggling this afternoon to find a few dollars here and
there, and it is not easy. But these are not easy times—we should
have been Senators and Congressmen in the 1960's when they
were giving all this money out.

Mr. Roth. It seems to me that since we are still sending billions

overseas in foreign aid, you could find $16 million someplace for

jobs here in America.
Mr. Pressler. Well, I am going to be willing to help out, and my

staff will be talking to your staff. I commend you for your great ef-

forts, because I think tnat is the way we have to go at this point.

I have been trying to get the votes for a more substantial amount,
and I have failed so far. But I will try my best.

Mr. Roth. Well, let me come over and see if we can help.

Mr. Pressler. OK.
Mr. Roth. Thank you very much, Senator, and thanks for coming

over here today.

Let me call on our distinguished panel of industry leaders. I will

introduce them and ask them to testify in this order.

Richard Speros is director of the Wisconsin State Tourism office

and is recognized as one of the innovative forces in tourism pro-

motion.
Linda Paresky is senior vice president of American Express, a

world leader in travel-related services.

Sandra Fulton is vice president of Gaylord Entertainment Indus-
tries which runs the Opryland tourist attraction. Sandra is the in-

coming chair of the Travel Industry Association of America. With
Sandra, is William Norman, vice chairman of the Travel Industry
Government Affairs Council.

We also have a special witness with us from Frankfurt, Germany
for this hearing, and so I would like to ask Hans Gunther Beckers,
who runs a tour company which specializes in bringing European
groups to the United States—he will give us a European perspec-
tive of our U.S. tourism market.
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Mr. Beckers, we are very pleased that you have come to be with

us here today, and we would ask that each one of you summarize
your statement and allow us to ask a few questions.

Richard, we will start with you.

STATEMENT OF RICHARD SPEROS, DIRECTOR, WISCONSIN
STATE DIVISION OF TOURISM

Mr. Speros. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I would like to con-

gratulate you, sir. Being from Wisconsin, you certainly have been
an advocate of tourism in the United States, and we appreciate

that representation.

Also Greg Farmer is to be congratulated. With a very difficult

and very small budget, he has done wonders. Bill Norman and TIA
have done a good job for the States.

I appreciate the opportunity to testify. In preparing for the up-

coming White House Conference on Travel and Tourism, my office

has spent a good deal of time discussing the issues before us today.

We have also been involved in discussions of these topics with the

U.S. State Travel Directors Association, the marketing committee
of the Council of Great Lakes Governors, and the Mississippi River

Parkway Commission. Each of these organizations and many more
have reached the same overall conclusion. The United States is not

effectively promoting its tourism product abroad.

Even though Wisconsin's marketing efforts focus primarily on do-

mestic tourism, international travelers spent $250 million in ^yis-

consin in 1994. However, at a time when travel and tourism

around the globe is booming, according to the Travel Industry As-

sociation, the United States is losing its market share. It is time

to halt this.

One obvious solution is to more aggressively market the United
States abroad. However, this requires more promotional funding

which has been increasingly hard to come by at the Federal level.

The fact that 30 countries spent more than the United States on

international tourism promotion is unbelievable. The substantial

investment, whether it is solely public or more likely public and
private must be made.
Being an active member of the tourism industry also, my family

and I have owned and operated a resort in northern Wisconsin. I

remember when Wisconsin's State government had the same atti-

tude that the Federal Government has today. They take tourism

for granted, making very little investment in promotion.

\^en Governor Thompson took office in 1987, this pro-tourism

Governor convinced the legislature that tourism was a revenue

generator, and if tourism were to go, a proper investment needed

to be made. Since then, Wisconsin's tourism marketing budget has
increased from just over $1 million—and 13 years ago, it was
$550,000—to today's $8-million budget. In addition to increasing

the tourism budget, our legislature has passed numerous bills fa-

vorable to the tourism industry, including this year's creation of a

Department of Tourism, elevating the division to a Cabinet-level

agency.
As a result of this support and commitment, Wisconsm s tourism

industry is strong. It annually generates more than $5 billion in

travel expenditures—to be exact, $5.6 billion. That equates to $177
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a second being spent on tourism in the State of Wisconsin. It re-

turns $595 million in State revenues and $320 million in local reve-
nues. It also provides jobs for 145,000 Wisconsin residents, generat-
ing $3 billion in personal income. As you can see, a minimal invest-

ment reaps big returns.

In addition to greater economic and legislative support from the
Federal Government, another solution to assist the U.S. tourism
promotion would be to create a new Federal tourism office. This of-

fice would be led by a minister of tourism who chairs a board of
directors and an executive committee made up of public and pri-

vate sector representatives.
The functions of this office would be to expand the cooperative

grant programs for multi-state international marketing organiza-
tions, such as the Council of Great Lakes Grovernors marketing
committee. Other functions would include enhanced international
research and an overhaul of current U.S.T.T.A. programs.

States such as Wisconsin deserve logical and financially viable
avenues through which they can reach international travelers. A
small Federal office funded and managed by public/private entities

that places a strong emphasis on a regional marketing approach af-

fords us this opportunity.
Also, we recommend the 11 U.S.T.T.A. foreign offices should be

closed and their functions contracted through private firms to meet
the specific needs of individual States and regional marketing
groups. We also support a 1-year funding extension for U.S.T.T.A.
to facilitate an orderly transition to a new Federal tourism office.

There has never been a more exciting and challenging time for
the U.S. tourism industry. By the year 2000, travel and tourism
will be the largest industry in the world, and each year, because
of the economic benefits, tnere are new players competing in this

international market.
The U.S. tourism industry has been successful in attracting

many international tourists to our shores, but we have been resting
on our laurels. All States must have the opportunity to aggres-
sively compete for travelers within a comprehensive, effective and
fair system. The States will meet the challenges that lie ahead, but
the States are not the issue. The issue is the Federal Government
not abandoning its responsibility to promote international tourism.
Thank you, sir.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Speros appears in the appendix.]
Mr. Roth. Thank you very much for your testimony.
I think we will listen to all of the testimony and then we will go

to the questions.

Ms. Paresky, please proceed with your testimony.

STATEMENT OF DR. LINDA PARESKY, SENIOR VICE PRESI-
DENT, TRAVEL EDUCATION AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT,
AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL RELATED SERVICES COMPANY
Ms. Paresky. Good afternoon. Chairman Roth. My name is

Linda Paresky. I am senior vice president for travel education and
policy development at American Express.
On behalf of American Express, I am delighted to be here today

to talk about the importance of travel and tourism in the U.S. econ-
omy. However, first I would like to join in saluting you, Mr. Chair-
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man, for your leadership over the years in promoting growth-ori-
ented public policy for the travel and tourism industry.
Mr. Chairman, it is easy to understand why American Express

takes the continued health and promotion of our industry so seri-

ously. Our charge and credit cards are synonymous with travel, our
travelers check product is over 100 years old, and our travel agency
with over 1,700 worldwide offices is the world's largest. In addition,

many of our most important business partners, including airlines,

hotels, restaurants, travel agents, and attractions, rely on the vital-

ity of the travel industry.

Mr. Chairman, there are two issues that I would like to focus on
today. Each has important public policy implications. One rep-

resents a threat, and the other a great opportunity.

First, the threat. The U.S. trade deficit is widening significantly.

Some are even predicting that it could reach $200 billion this year.

And the opportunity. Next month the first ever White House Con-
ference on Travel and Tourism will be held in Washington.
To put this all in context, I would like to illustrate the impor-

tance of travel and tourism and the strength it brings to the econ-

omy, particularly with respect to our trade balance. Travel and
tourism ranks as our country's second largest employer. It provides
approximately six million jobs. It accounts for $56 billion in tax
revenue for Federal, State, and local governments. It is also re-

sponsible for roughly 10.5 percent of GDP, or approximately $800
billion in direct and indirect revenue.

In the international trade arena, travel and tourism is our coun-
try's largest service export. The spending by international visitors

adds significantly to our export earnings. Wnile our goods deficit is

roughly $180 billion, our services surplus is $60 billion, offsetting

a third of the deficit. Travel and tourism is the single largest com-
ponent of that surplus at $21.6 billion in 1994, or over 30 percent.

In fact, just last week the Commerce Department reported the

July trade figures, which revealed an $11.5 billion deficit, the larg-

est monthly deficit on record. However, even within this bleak re-

port, travel and tourism again produced a surplus of just under $5
billion, which is 29 percent of the total surplus in services. I call

these facts to your attention today because in spite of our past per-

formance and future potential, we are witnessing some alarming
trends.

U.S. travel and tourism is experiencing a slow-down in growth.
While the worldwide market for international visitors is growing,
and projections over the next 10 years call for continued robust in-

creases in the numbers of visitors traveling outside their countries,

the United States is losing its international market share. While
the global pie is growing, we have been receiving a smaller slice

for the last 3 years. But what should be of greater concern is that

actual international visitor arrival numbers are projected to de-

crease 5.5 percent this year. This is occurring despite the weakness
of the dollar.

Why are visitor arrivals declining? The competition is getting

tougher. Other countries have recognized travel and tourism as a
strategic economic development priority, and many are reaping the

rewards of increased visitor arrivals as a result of their investment
in infrastructure, promotion, and visitor services.
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For example, Australia, as we saw, recently announced that it

was launching a new $100 million, 3-year effort even though its

current visitor arrival numbers are strong. What should we do to

respond?
Before we can move forward with an effective strategy, there

must be a shared understanding between the public and private

sectors that the travel and tourism industry is an economic power-
house. Clearly the trade figures I have cited give evidence to that.

Second, to regain world-class preeminence, we need an aggressive
national strategy.

As you know, a bold new strategy is currently being developed
by the industry in collaboration with U.S.T.T.A. in preparation for

next month's White House conference, and I would be remiss if at

this point I did not acknowledge the fine leadership that Undersec-
retary Greg Farmer has provided throughout the process.

We need to remove barriers that inhibit travel to the United
States. Consensus is building through the State Conference process

that we must relieve unnecessary delays and bottlenecks by im-
proving customs procedures and by upgrading out-dated air traffic

control systems, by improving border inspection processes, by ex-

panding visa waivers, by enabling greater use of pre-inspection sta-

tions abroad, by providing better training for our inspection staff,

and by adopting international signage.

Also we need timely, accurate and comprehensive data on the
contributions of the travel and tourism industry. This can be
achieved by the enhancement of the standard industrial classifica-

tion system and the creation of a national satellite account for trav-

el and tourism. By making these improvements and others, the
United States will significantly enhance its competitiveness and
make our country more user-friendly. Early on, American Express
recognized the potential of the White House conference, and has
been actively participating throughout the process. It is our hope
that the conference will be a catalyst for a meaningful dialog be-

tween the private sector and the Federal Government on a frame-
work and a time table to implement final and strategic rec-

ommendations.
I know that my travel and tourism industry colleagues share our

commitment to work with the Federal Government and the Con-
gress to help increase our export surplus, create even more jobs,

and rebuild America's world-class leadership in this important
growth industry.

One thing is clear. If collectively we do nothing, the prolonged
decline in international visitors coming to the United States will

have negative effects on our economy. It will mean fewer jobs; for

example, the decline we heard about projected for 1995 represent-
ing 170,000 jobs. For the public sector, it will mean a decrease in

tax receipts and higher trade deficit. Clearly this is a trend we
must reverse.
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, with that in mind

as the White House conference recommendations are endorsed, the

industry would be grateful for your continued leadership in intro-

ducing legislation to implement the final conference recommenda-
tions that will unleash the travel industry's great potential.

Thank you.
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[The prepared statement of Dr. Paresky appears in the appen-
dix.]

Mr. Roth. Thank you veiy much for that excellent testimony.
We have been joined by Congressman Chabot, the real leader in

Congress in the area of travel and tourism. I think what we are
going to do is finish the testimony and then we will go to some
questions.
Mr. Chabot. That is fine.

Mr. Roth. We are going to ask Sandra Fulton for her testimony
now, and then Mr. William Norman, and then we are going to go
to Mr. Beckers.

STATEMENT OF SANDRA FULTON, VICE PRESmENT FOR
INDUSTRY RELATIONS, GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY
Ms. Fulton. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I really do

appreciate the opportunity to testify before you today to express
the travel and tourism industry's views on overseas promotion and
the vital role it plays in our country's economy.

I am Sandra Fulton, vice president for industry relations for

Opryland Hotel and Attractions and Gaylord Entertainment Com-
pany in Nashville, Tennessee. I also have served 8 years in the
Governor's cabinet of Tennessee as commissioner of tourism for

that State, and am currently vice chairman of the Travel Industry
Association of America to assume the chair in about 3 weeks of

that membership organization, which is comprised of representa-
tives from every segment of the travel and tourism industry.

I too have filed more extensive remarks. We have heard a lot of

statistics today. They are often repetitious, though obviously not
repetitious enough. Many people still have not heard of them. But
I would like to be a little more brief in my remarks.
The industry as we have noted throughout our conversation is a

very powerful economic generator, and it produced $417 billion in

expenditures in 1994. Not only is it our leading export, but created

a $22 billion tourism trade surplus in 1994.

In our own city and the company for which I work, I will offer

some points for illustration. Even though the volume of inter-

national travel to Nashville and Tennessee is relatively small right

now, we are known around the world, predominantly as Music
City, U.S.A. At the heart of the music business in Nashville and
in Tennessee is the Grand Old Opry, which is the longest running
radio show in the world, and the cornerstone of my company. Gay-
lord Entertainment.
The Grand Old Oprv went on the air in 1925 and now reaches

every corner of the globe. One of the newer parts of Gaylord Enter-

tainment Company is a cable television service called Country
Music Television, or CMT. CMT has now expanded its satellite

reach to virtually encircle the globe. Our international outreach ex-

tends through the United Kingdom, Western Europe, all of South
America, and throughout the Pacific Rim.
We advertise and promote our travel products and our destina-

tion on this cable system and in many other ways. Our company
also partners with the city and the State and other industry seg-

ments throughout our State to do international promotions of all

kinds. And the world knows of Nashville and of Tennessee and of
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country music. We have done this with public/private partnerships
which have been very successful over the years. The point is that
despite a solid image that we have a modern means of communica-
tion with CMT, a broader, more general promotion of tourism to

America must undergird our efforts.

This country has been really lucky. It has been pointed out al-

ready today. It is the greatest place in the world to live, and it has
to be on the top of everyone's dream vacation list for millions of

people around the world. We have taken that for granted that they
will continue to come here, and with the barriers to travel falling

all over the world, we thought they would come in greater num-
bers. But our luck may be running out. The competition is very
keen for travelers and tneir dollars because of the obvious economic
benefits, and certainly obvious because of the other countries' in-

vestment in their tourism development.
The lack of government investment in this country is illustrated

very keenly by our current funding of the U.S. Travel and Tourism
Administration. Undersecretary Farmer has done a stellar job try-

ing to keep it all together and make it work, but they are so

stretched and have been so grossly under-funded over the years
that their efforts have not been what they would like for them to

have been. But I can tell you, as a former commissioner of tourism
for the State of Tennessee, how supportive U.S.T.T.A. was of our
international programs and continues to try to be.

I also have seen first-hand from working all across the State how
much support travel and tourism industry is for the smaller com-
munities, particularly those who are in economically difficult times.
Small businesses are the backbone of this industry as they are the
backbone of this country, and the U.S.T.T.A. has been successful in

recognizing the value of these small businesses and supporting
them in their tourism promotion efforts, and that has been vital

support.
It is commendable that they have done so much with so little,

but unfortunately, they are just spread too thin. Where other in-

dustries make very significant contributions to the U.S. economy in

their own right, they do not come close to having the economic im-
pact the travel and tourism industry has. But they receive far more
in overseas promotion funding than U.S.T.T.A. ever has, before we
ever started the cutting several years ago.
For example, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, which in

1995—as Senator Pressler noted it has been hard to find money

—

they found $200 million for the Department of Agriculture to pro-
mote our agricultural products abroad. Some of those programs are
very much like programs U.S.T.T.A. has attempted to have over
the years, but could never have successfully funded. However, trav-
el and tourism is arguably an even stronger economic contributor
to America. Export earnings from the agricultural industry in 1993,
our figures showed totaled $45 billion, which is very respectable.
However, it pales in comparison to the $74 billion export earnings
in 1973 from the travel and tourism industry—almost double the
earnings of the agricultural industry.
Imagine what good could be done by the travel and tourism prod-

ucts being promoted abroad in jobs and tax revenue if they received
a comparable support from the Federal Government. But in short.
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government overseas promotion of travel and tourism has been
marginal. TIA (the Travel Industry Association of America) has
known this. We know change is on the block. We have to deal with
it, and we have developed an action plan for the future which ad-
dresses, along with many other issues, the need for private sector
involvement in the global marketing of our industry as a whole,
and we are ready to sit at the table and carry that further.

In preparation for the White House Conference on Travel and
Tourism, TIA has actively participated in industry discussions re-

garding the formation of this new public/private partnership, and
it relieves the Federal Government of much of the financial respon-
sibility and overhead, as small as that has been.
TIA recommends tnat U.S.T.T.A. be replaced with a private sec-

tor-managed, federally chartered national tourism office. The goal
of that organization would be very straightforward and very sim-
ple—to create more competitive U.S. tourism marketing efforts in

the international marketplace. We fully expect that the industry as
a whole through the White House conference will formulate strate-

gies to implement such a national tourism office, and we are all

dedicated to that concept. We are convinced that such an organiza-
tion would help to ensure international travel's continuing positive

contribution to our economy.
That concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Ms. Fulton appears in the appendix.]
Mr. Roth. Thank you very much, Ms. Fulton, for your testimony.
Now we will go to Mr. Norman for his testimony.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM S. NORMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN,
TRAVEL AND TOURISM GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS COUNCIL
Mr. Norman. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
On behalf of the nation's travel and tourism industry, I really ap-

preciate the opportunity to testify here today.

I am William S. Norman, president and CEO of the Travel In-

dustry Association of America, and vice chairman of the Travel and
Tourism Government Affairs Council. The Council is a coalition of

36 national organizations. An affiliate of TIA, the Council is com-
prised of representatives from every segment of the travel and
tourism industry, and Mr. Chairman, it is on behalf of the Council
that I appear before you today.
The travel and tourism industry is a fast-growing and significant

contributor to the global economy. In the United States, the eco-

nomic importance of the travel and tourism industry unfortunately
has been a well-kept secret. As the nation's third largest retail in-

dustry, travel and tourism generated $417 billion in expenditures
in 1994. With more than six million direct employees, travel and
tourism is the second largest industry in the nation in terms of em-
ployment.

Notably, the travel and tourism industry contributes a significant

amount of tax revenue to our nation. Specifically your home State
of Wisconsin, Mr. Chairman, has recently given a vote of confidence

to the travel industry by allotting $8 million a year to a new tour-

ism promotion budget. Governor Tommy Thompson and Mr. Speros
and your State recognize that to grow the 87,300 jobs, $984 million

in payroll, $597 million in taxes, and nearly $5 billion in expendi-
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tures generated by the travel and tourism industry in Wisconsin,
State-sponsored investment and commitment are required.
When the economic impact of the travel and tourism industry is

examined, and is examined from an international point of view, it

becomes clear that the travel and tourism industry plays a major
role in the world marketplace. As the nation's leading services ex-
port, our industry generated $78 billion in expenditures from inter-

national visitors in 1994. Now, while these numbers are impressive
and indicate a growing and successful industry, I ask that you in-

dulge me for a moment as I try to illustrate the need for govern-
ment investment in the travel and tourism industry, because we
believe that such investment is key to maintaining our nation's
leadership role in the global marketplace.

Imagine, Mr. Chairman, if you will, that I run a little cheese
shop outside of Green Bay, Wisconsin. Now, you and I both know,
Mr. Chairman, that some of the best cheese comes from your State.
In fact, most of the world knows that. Because I have the most su-
perior cheese in the world and the best variety, I figure I can save
some countless dollars by allowing the word of mouth to be my only
form of advertising.

My competitors in Tunisia, however, have decided to put much
of their energies into the promotion of their cheese. Despite this,

they recognize that a significant profit may be made by investment
in cheese, and they allot $35.6 million of government funds into
cheese promotion. They market it across the world, they hire an
internationally known spokesman, and suddenly cheese becomes a
gold mine of economic riches for the country.
Meanwhile, back in Wisconsin, my customers are dwindling. De-

spite the obvious fact that I am losing market share to foreign op-
erators, I still insist that my product will market itself and I stub-
bornly set my marketing budget at almost nothing.

Obviously that little cheese shop is meant to be analogous to the
United States and its mere $16 million investment in tourism pro-
motion through U.S.T.T.A. The consequences of the failure to mar-
ket adequately any business is the same as our current refusal to

invest in overseas promotions of the United States as a travel des-
tination.

Now, Mr. Chairman, while it may appear simplistic and perhaps
humorous to compare the promotion of the U.S. travel and tourism
industry with that of a small cheese company, please understand,
sir, that this is serious business when we talk about overseas pro-
motion. The U.S.T.T.A. markets the United States a whole, not dif-

ferent tourism attractions such as Disney World or the Mall of
America or the Green Bay Packers Hall of Fame. The U.S.T.T.A.
does, however, provide materials which aid travelers in their loca-

tion of these travel attractions.

But I think the biggest threat to this industry's contributions to

the U.S. economy is the decline in our nation's global travel market
share. I dare say, that if this steady decline occurred in any other
industry which contributed so much to our economy, there would
be a serious concern at the national level and every effort would
be made to make its revival appropriate. But with only $16 million
in funding for 1995, and comparable pittances throughout its his-

tory, this agency is not provided with the necessary tools so that
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it may live up to the full potential and the travel and tourism in-

dustry and the nation are suffering for it.

In consequence, the travel and tourism industry has been
prompted to explore bold new approaches toward the creation of a
new national tourism organization that would be adequately fund-

ed. Through the structure of the White House Conference on Travel
and Tourism, which our fellow panelists have talked about and is

set to take place at the end of next month, key members of our in-

dustry are exploring strategies that will advance the formation of

such a public/private partnership.

Mr. Chairman, while the details will be unveiled and voted on
at the White House conference in October, allow me to outline the
basic goal our industry representatives have for such a national

tourism organization. The primary goal is more competitive U.S.

tourism marketing efforts in the international marketplace. The
travel and tourism industry is committed to developing a reliable

revenue stream to fund an international tourism promotional effort

that is competitive with other top tourism destination countries of

the world. Such aggressive marketing can be achieved through a

private sector oriented public/private partnership organization

which will assume U.S.T.T.A.'s current responsibilities for inter-

national tourism promotion.
The industry understands, Mr. Chairman, that in these finan-

cially stressed times when every aspect of government funding is

being scrutinized and trimmed that the nation and the industry

would perhaps be better served if U.S.T.T.A. were reorganized into

such a public/private partnership. The travel and tourism industry

has come together in full force under the structure of the White
House conference. Every segment of our industry is working in

unity to bring a bold new vision to how we do business in a way
that is cost effective and that is efficient.

But we must have time, Mr. Chairman, to implement such strat-

egies so that the consequences of continued declining market
shares are avoided. Overseas promotion of such a vital industry,

which is undeniably linked to the health of America's economy, de-

serves a government structure to guide and work with the private

sector through the transition to a public/private partnership. Such
a minor investment will allow for a bold, new, and productive na-

tional tourism organization which when defined and initiated will

allow for effective marketing of the United States as the unparal-

leled travel destination that it truly is.

This concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Norman appears in the appen-

dix.]

Mr. Roth. Thank you very much, Mr. Norman.
Now we will hear from Mr. Beckers, and then we will move to

questions.
Mr. Beckers, it is nice of you to be with us from Europe for this

hearing today.



23

STATEMENT OF HANS GUNTHER BECKERS, SCHUCH-BECKERS
TOUR OPERATORS, FRANKFURT GERMANY

Mr. Beckers. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I would like

to thank you very much to have the opportunity to testify before
the Members of this very important committee.

Let me just say a few words on what I was doing so far and what
I am doing so far. I am 41 years almost in the travel trade work-
ing. Forty-seven years of that was with Pan Am in leading posi-

tions in Germany. I was the managing director of sales and a re-

gional managing director of sales for Germany for a couple of years.
Then I joined in 1992 my wife's outfit and offices. She was also

in the airline, and she worked out of a very fine travel agency,
small travel agency, and I joined her and we are doing many, many
things at the moment. In other words, not only retail but also

wholesale. But we have also a lot of representation company. We
are representing U.S. companies in Germany. So why do I say
that? That gives you a better idea why I have a good overview
what is going on in Grermany.

I can still remember the time when we started several years ago
with U.S.A. promotion and we had about 25,000 passengers per
year. In those days, we say we have 1.7 million in Germany, and
that does not include the figures from Austria and Switzerland. So
it is remarkable, and that comes a great part from the efforts of
the U.S.T.T.A.—I must say this—and the pre-runner of U.S. TIA.
So I can praise them not enough here of what they have done in

the past in Europe, and especially in my country, in Germany.
Now, I know all the directors from U.S.T.T.A. I still remember

when I came here for the first time to Washington to see what

—

how he acted, and that was for me the alarm clock that I should
really concentrate on U.S.A., which I do up to now and which I will

continue to do.

Why do I say this? I can be very brief in telling you what we see
what U.S.T.T.A. is doing. They have many, many things accom-
plished in those years. Let me just mention the ITB in Berlin

—

when we started 30 years ago, we had only 40 exhibits. Today we
have a big hall, it was over 200. Then the pow-wow and prepara-
tions and the selection of the agents and so on. I was many years
in the committee meetings as well here working. So I know exactly
how wonderful this task was taken and was accomplished. Then
the new tourism affair in Frankfurt, U.S.T.T.A. again takes leader-

ship and here I must say—is always very optimistic to do a proper
job.

Then further training. I have brought something here which
most probably nobody saw here in the United States. A work which
was done by U.S.T.T.A. and its many partners. It traveled to the
west of U.S.A.—a kit which is full of this material, and this goes
to travel agents in Germany and they have to really study all the
information and material and then they have to send the question
forms back to U.S.T.T.A. U.S.T.T.A. will then check and will find

the winners and then they go to a tour to the United States.

Here nine countries—in nine States of the United States are in-

cluded in this one campaign. I also would like to mention the other
many, many promotion efforts which they have done and where
they were deeply involved. For instance, the America Journal. We
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have now 50,000 copies in Grermany already and it is well taken
by the public as well as by the travel agency.
The Travel Planner, as you know, that was a corporate campaign

which is excellent and was excellent. We had 1.8 million copies dis-

tributed and the response, and this can be stated by everybody in

Germany, was absolutely great. Who's Who, another publication,

only done by the U.S.T.T.A. and you know most probably all of this

wonderful publication—a lot of work, always to operators changes.
They revised this and put it together for Germany, Austria and
Switzerland, and you as the suppliers here can use this valuable
information so that you do not run around and say who is impor-
tant from the two operators' field.

But there are so many travel agents in Germany. We have over

14,000, and everybody actually is interested in the United States.

No doubt about it. Because we have a lot of films and so on, how-
ever it is what we heard so many times today already, without
funds, without really pushing it, there will be no great increases

any more, ladies and gentlemen.
I can state this because I went to my own travel agency and

found out when the people are coming in, how—what do they ask
for? They say, "Where is a fun destination? Is there sun? Is there

beaches?" and also "How much?" and then they decide to travel.

They do not ask, ladies and gentlemen, "It is only the United
States." No. I must tell you, that is not the case. So the countries

like Australia, New Zealand, Canada you have mentioned, and the

entire area in the Far East. They are spending so much for the pro-

motion that I am really concerned that if U.S.T.T.A. does not get

more funds or the United States does not give more funds for the

promotion, then you will be a loser. I have to tell you this.

Also I would like, though I am not supposed to do this, but I

have to be here in order to tell you what is going on. I am a little

bit afraid what I have heard today in respect of the new concept

of private industry together with the government industry. I can
only tell you from some experience, I learned just recently and I

cannot be quoted for this, but there are countries who have some
problems because they have done this—they went that route. So if

you do it, please, it should be in any case a great part from the

government and then the private industry. Otherwise, it will be not
work. I can tell you this, I have proof for that, and I can answer
this if you want later on.

Ladies and gentlemen, and Mr. Chairman, that is in short what
I wanted to say, because all other subjects have been discussed so

thoroughly that I thought that I should not even repeat it once

more. That is my concern, and believe me, we in Germany would
like to give the utmost attention to the United States, and do not

forget that East Germany is coming more important, so a lot of

promotions have to be done in our country to get the proper share

for the United States.

Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Mr. Beckers appears in the appen-

dix.]

Mr. Roth. Thank you very much, Mr. Beckers, and all of our
panelists today for your excellent testimony.
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I think we are going tx) start with Mr. Chabot to see if he has
any questions, and then we will go to Ms. Meyers and then I will

ask a few questions.
Mr. Chabot. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate

the testimony we have heard here this afternoon,

I have to say, to be very honest, I think I have some problems
with some of the things I have heard here, for a number of reasons.

First of all, I am one of the Republican freshmen. You know, I am
new up here, and I think what the American public was telling us
last year was they want to downsize government. They want to

spend less on government. They want us to balance the budget.
For that reason, we are more and more going to put the burden

back on the private sector rather than having the government fund
some of these things which arguably are not government functions.

I am all for tourism and I am all for encouraging tourism, but I

think you are going to see less dollars spent on these types of pro-

grams from the U.S. Grovernment as opposed to more, and I think
we are going to have to put the burden back on you, on the private
sector, the folks that will directly benefit from more tourism in this

country. I think we are going to have to see much more private in-

vestment through private associations, promotions programs.
I voted against the marketing promotion program earlier this

year where we basically pay for promoting products overseas for

American companies. I mean, this kind of goes against the trend
right now, what I hear being said here today, which is that we
ought to spend more on tourism—it is the government's respon-
sibility to do this.

You know, we have got an almost $5 trillion debt right now that
we are trying to deal with because previous Congresses spent a lot

more money than they brought in. So we have got to balance the
budget. You know, 14 cents of every dollar that our citizens send
up here in the form of taxes is just to pay the interest on the debt
that has been built up, and we are basically spending all this

money and we are turning it over to our children to pay for.

We are committed to no longer doing that, so there is just a dif-

ferent mindset here that rather than this being the government's
responsibility, if we can get the government off the people's backs
in this country, they will not have to pay such high taxes, they
have more money in their pocket, they will be able to do what they
want with it. Hopefully, a lot of that will be tourism.
Now, I understand what you are saying is that we want to bring

people from all around the world here, and that goes through the
economy and means more jobs, and I agree with that. Where I dis-

agree is that whether we ought to be spending more tax dollars to

do this or whether the people in the industries that are going to

benefit most directly, wnich is you folks and the folks you rep-

resent, whether you all ought to be doing this.

I would be interested to hear—I assume we disagree, but I would
be interested to see what you have in response to the remarks that
I just made. Anybody that wants to respond?
Mr. Norman. Mr. Chabot, I think that the differences that you

are describing may not be as great as you may have indicated for

the following reasons. We are unanimous in an approach that we
recognize that the world is changing, and that the mood in the
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Congress is more toward reform and I think that we are generally

supporting it.

What we are trying to do is come up with a bold new solution,

and our bold new solution is that the U.S.T.T.A., as admirable as

it has been in trying to promote travel to the United States, has
been sorely and insufficiently funded in spite of the great gains and
the return on investment that this has all meant. So we have pro-

posed, as a solution—the entire industry—that the private sector

join with the government in forming a public/private partnership in

which U.S.T.T.A. would in fact be asked to fund it just for one ad-

ditional year that would give us time to make this transition and
in effect doing something that you rarely hear a government agen-

cy talking about, and that is putting itself out of business and
transitioning to something else so that we have a public/private

partnership that will work to promote the whole of the United
States.

I might also add that the beneficiary of that is all of us. It is

States, it is localities, it is the industry in terms of taxes and in

terms of general revenues. So I think the important point to be
made is that we are here not asking for more money for a govern-

ment agency. We are proposing a new solution that would in effect

transition away from the U.S.T.T.A. and come up with a new pub-
lic/private partnership for which the private industry is not only an
integral partner but a significant contributor.

Mr. Chabot. It sounds like we were closer than I first thought,

then, because I obviously agree with the private sector playing a
greater role in funding. I would just have to say over time, you are

going to see less funding for this and all kinds of programs if we
are going to balance this budget. But I commend you for your re-

sponse.
I will yield back the balance of my time.

Mr. Roth. Thank you, Mr. Chabot, for your interest and your
questions. We will now ask Ms. Meyers if she has any questions

for our panelists.

Mrs. Meyers. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Can I ask, and maybe I should know this and do not, in the past

what have we done to promote the United States? I mean, I am fa-

miliar with what other countries do here. I was thinking back just

now to see if I could particularly remember any promotions of other

countries, and the ones that come through most vividly are Aus-
tralia—I think they have done a good job, and I do not know how
much of that is their airline and how much is the country of Aus-
tralia. I do not know who funds all of this.

I think Mexico has done a good job of promotion, but what have
we done in this country? Does the industry get together and do pro-

motion? Has the United States done promotion? What kind of pro-

motion?
Mr. Norman. I will take a crack at that. I think that there has

been an ever-active program. The issue that we are making is the

individual companies within the private sector and States working
as a group and individually do in fact promote travel to and within

the United States, and a significant quantity has been done
throughout the very nations, and the U.S.T.T.A., however, has a

very vital role and the one that we are concerned about from a na-
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tional tourism office. Because in spite of the very meager budget
that U.S.T.T.A. has, what it has been able to do is to leverage that
small quantity of money by going to the private sector and focusing

primarily on the ten countries of the world that provide 85 percent
of the revenues that come to this country. If you were to look at

where this is leveraged, there has been a private/public partnership
going on in various countries to get there.

But the point that I think is very significant is that the United
States, which ranks number 33rd in the world in terms of pro-

motion behind such countries as Tunisia, Malaysia, or Poland, that
what we are simply saying is that we need to be doing more in this

highly competitive marketplace.
Mrs. Meyers. Yes. I was surprised—now, is this our expenditure

in 1993—$16 million?
Mr. Norman. $16.3 million.

Mrs. Meyers. And Greece spent the same year $143 million, and
Mexico spent $139 million?

Mr. Norman. That is correct.

Mrs. Meyers. Has our effort mostly been television, or is it mag-
azines, newspaper? Is it direct contact with travel agents? What
kind of promotion?
Mr. Norman. I would just suggest that the cumulative effect of

all aspects of marketing—advertising promotion is one vehicle,

sales promotions, brochures, travel trade shows—the combination
of all of them trying to get the word out. All of them have been
done, and the only point that I was attempting to make is that
States, regions, individual countries all promote it. But they pro-

mote their individual country.

What we are talking about here is a coordinated effort in which
we promote the whole of the United States using all the means of

communication and advertising and promotion to do that.

Mrs. Meyers. Mr. Beckers, would you say that we have done an
effective job?

Mr. Beckers. You have done with the funds an outstanding job.

That is 100 percent clear. The only thing—I think you were not
there when I mentioned this—I warn a little bit because of experi-

ence that if it is too much in private hands, you have too many
cooks, to say it clearly. There must be a strong guidance from the
government in order to protect all the States in the United States

and the hotels and all the attractions properly. That is what I am
saying.

Mrs. Meyers. The reason you think maybe the public/private

partnership does not work as well is because it loses focus? Is that

what you are saying? That it is not as well focused, or

Mr. Beckers. No. I am saying if the private companies put
money in it, they want to have also the results out of it. So there
must be a strong leadership by the U.S. Government in order to

get it properly promoted. That is all that has to be done—all the
others did it so far. They called the others together whether it is

Holiday Inn or American Express or Thomas Cook or whoever, we
were all on one table and discussed. But the final product then was
handled by U.S.T.T.A. and we were all happy, and that is what you
should continue. Please.
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Mrs. Meyers. Could I ask again—Mr. Beckers, maybe you are
the one that would be most aware of this. What changes can we
make in bureaucracy so that we do not have people as someone
mentioned standing in long lines waiting for visas? What kind of

bureaucratic changes can we make that would be helpful to a per-

son like you that would be bringing a tour to the United States?
Mr. Beckers. Well, I as a tour operator—I have my contacts in

the United States and if I do not, I go to U.S.T.T.A. and ask, "Can
you help me?" and he will tell me rignt on the spot or their wonder-
ful staff what I can do and whom I should get, to contact. That is

no big problem for us.

Mrs. Meyers. All right. So I got the impression listening earlier

that maybe we had some bureaucracy that got in the way some-
where. Does anybody else want to comment on this, or is it just a
matter of money? Do we need to spend more to tell our story and
to promote ourselves?
Mr. Speros. If I could answer that, Mrs. Meyers. At Wisconsin's

level we have realized that the $16 million is not sufficient and
Greg Farmer has spent it very wisely. The administrative cost of

the entire budget is exceedingly high, I think over 70 percent or 75
percent. So it does not leave much for promotion of our product.
So the States have, in turn—and I cannot give you the final fig-

ure, and I don't know if Bill could give it to us or not—certainly

participated in marketing their own State internationally. We
could not survive doing that alone, so we have done it as a regional
group with the Great Lakes of North America. Then we have indi-

vidually gone into Germany to promote Wisconsin specifically in

Germany.
My problem with that is if 98 percent of the tourism revenue is

generated domestically, it is difficult to tell the industry that I am
going to spend x-number of dollars for only a 2-percent return, or

the number of international tourists that are coming into the State.

So we needed the help economically, and I am sure there are some
technical problems that the bureaucracy has created, but Mr.
Chabot, I do not agree that the Federal Government should not be
involved. They need to be involved.

The tourism industry in Wisconsin went to the State and the

State legislators in 1987 and said, "We demand recognition. We de-

mand you recognize the importance of this industry."

Mrs. Meyers. Yes.

Mr. Speros. "And that yes, you do need to be involved, because
of what we pay in State taxes." We had been taken for granted for

so long and we feel like the Federal Government is abandoning us
at this point in time.

I do not want it to be private, either.

Mrs. Meyers. I think it is extremely important that we balance
the budget. I do think that we also have to recognize that some-
times some things that we expend money for generate a greater re-

turn, so we must have some wisdom there also.

Dr. Paresky, did you want to comment on this?

Ms. Paresky. Yes. I think you were asking if it is only a matter
of expending money or if there are barriers, and as we think of our-

selves as an export industry, we think of other exports in terms of

foreign government erecting trade barriers to our growth and sue-
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cess. But I believe in this case we have erected our own trade bar-
riers by some of the inefficiencies that we have in our own system,
and I think you were out of the room when I mentioned that we
need to remove barriers that inhibit travel to the United States.

For example, delays and bottlenecks in custom procedures, a ter-

ribly outdated air traffic control system which requires updating,
improved border inspection process, an expanded visa waiver pro-
gram, a greater use of pre-inspection stations abroad, better train-

ing for inspection staff, and adopting international signage that
would make ourselves more user-friendly and more visitor-friendly.

I think there is a plethora of opportunities that our country can en-

gage in to tear down the barriers to trade that we erect ourselves.
There are some other things that I think government can and

should do. For example, in the area of data collection, accurate and
timely data are crucial to forecasting and analysis, but as far as
travel and tourism is considered, the Federal Government data on
this industry is a patchwork of nine collection programs operated
by seven different Federal agencies and two foreign governments.
The United Nations and World Tourism Organization have rec-

ommended a set of standard definitions and classifications to facili-

tate valid comparison among nations.
Well, currently none of our data collection programs adheres

completely to these standards, and in addition, they are not con-
sistent among themselves. So these are ways that we are unable
to be our own best friend and be our own ally in encouraging more
information and better—wiser and more supportive policy for the
industry.

So I believe that we also need to adopt the U.NAV.T.O. stand-
ards; and in addition, our standard industry classification system,
as we know, is archaic and anachronistic and it was developed at
a time when agriculture, mining, and manufacturing were our pri-

mary economic indicators. Now 80 percent of our business in this

economy is in the service sector, and those elements of the stand-
ard industrial classification system do not adequately describe or
provide for the gathering and analysis of travel and tourism.

For example, in the air transportation category, the categories
are scheduled and unscheduled, but they do not segregate pas-
sengers from cargo. So we have no way of really properly collecting

data through our standard industrial classification system, and so

we would recommend that the government properly has a role in

reassessing and redefining and expanding the standard industrial

classification system to properly account for our industry, and fur-

ther to create a travel and tourism satellite account so we can take
all of those elements and put them together in a basket of informa-
tion so that we will have a proper indication of the size and scope
of our industry.

Last, that we could provide and the government could support
the provision of a central clearing house for the data and informa-
tion that is accurately collected and analyzed so that it could be
more utilitarian for States and cities and for the country as a
whole, for the public and private sector.

Mrs. Meyers. I find that very helpful and I want to thank the
chairman for having the hearing. This is an outstanding panel and
I want to urge you all to remember that the most exciting place
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in the United States is the Greater Kansas City area, especially on
the Kansas side!

Mr. Roth. Thank you, Congresswoman Meyers, for your excel-

lent contribution and questions.

I have been concerned for some time about what has taken place

in travel and tourism. Travel and tourism will soon be the largest

industry in the world and we have to get our act together before

it is too late.

Mr. Speros, I have been following what you said in the Wisconsin
newspapers, and I think you are right on track. I also feel that you
said something today that we have got to give some consideration

to. You said you marched up to the Capitol in Wisconsin and you
demanded recognition. Is that right?

Mr. Speros. Yes, sir.

Mr. Roth. You know something, my friends? That is what we are
going to have to do here on Capitol Hill. Do you know why the

Commerce Department is doing away with U.S.T.T.A.? Nobody
squawks. You can do away with it and nobody will say a word. This
really bothers me. I used to get upset with Congressmen, I do not

know, any more, because I have found that they just do not know
the facts.

We have a $200-billion deficit staring us in the face. We, the

United States, has a big fiscal deficit as well as an increasing trade

deficit. Last year our trade deficit was $166 billion. If it would not

have been for travel and tourism, our trade deficit would have been
$188 billion. But the Congressmen do not know that. Why? My
friends, we have not been telling our story.

We have to let people know that downsizing travel and tourism
by one-third purts 370,000 jobs at stake. That would be disastrous!

Look what it would do to our trade deficit.

I like Mr. Chabot very much, but I do not agree that $16.3 mil-

lion is spending too much. I just got back from Germany. They
spend more than that on Oktoberfest. Isn't that right, Mr. Beckers?
Mr. Beckers. That is true.

Mr. Roth. We have got to get our story out. Greece spends $130
million, Mexico $169 million—^you go way, way down the line then
we come in with $16.3 million.

Mr. Beckers, I would like to ask if you have 14,000 travel agents?

Mr. Beckers. More.
Mr, Roth. I am sorry?

Mr. Beckers. More than that.

Mr. Roth. More than that?

Mr. Beckers. Yes. Fourteen thousand registered. There are

more, but I am talking only of those who are in good shape and
in whom you can rely on. And there is a certain development in

Germany right now—the TUI are going greater, DER is there—just
a few, but a lot goes to smaller travel agencies in those days.

So that is where you can make additional money. Where you can
get additional business. For this reason, that is a wonderful tool

that we can train as many people as possible because we cannot

be everywhere. The U.S.T.T.A. cannot be everywhere. Not our com-
mittee can be, because I know we are 30 active members here all

the time, but that is not enough. So things have to be developed

for better information, better training, and that costs money.
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I mean—^was lucky enough to get sufficient support from some of
the States to do this one. That is only a sample. We had also the
East Coast—we have the southern United States already training
a program and it is really developing.
Mr. Roth. Do you know how much money approximately
Mr. Beckers. It costs here 300,000 marks.
Mr. Roth. How many marks does Grermany spend on tourist pro-

motion?
Mr. Beckers. Oh. I do not—I cannot
Mr. Roth. You do not know off-hand?
Mr. Beckers. No. But I can only tell you, which is very interest-

ing, the travel industry is as large as the entire German car indus-
try. That statement just came out the other day, which hits every-
body in the trouble. Trade is tremendous. Same situation as the
United States.
Mr. Roth. Do you mean to tell me that travel and tourism in

German is as big as Mercedes, BMW, and all the other cars to-

gether?
Mr. Beckers. Not bigger, but same size. Same size. We are pro-

ducing the same amount of turnover as the entire German car in-

dustry. That is according to the Chamber of Commerce in Frank-
furt, and I have to believe those figures.

Mr. Roth. Well, that is fantastic. So basically what we are say-

ing here is that our market share depends on our marketing, and
if we do not meet the competition, we lose market share.
Mr. Beckers. Yes.
Mr. Roth. Ms. Fulton, is that what we are saying?
Ms. Fulton. I think it is very clear that that is what we are say-

ing, and U.S.T.T.A.'s programs over the years have been very sup-
portive of other entities' advertising and promotion programs. They
have done a great job of pulling information together, to distribute

it, and to produce a base for others to participate in promotional
activities. But Mrs. Meyers' question—I would like to direct a reply
to a question she had, and that was what have we been doing. I

want it to be clear to Mrs. Meyers that we have not been advertis-

ing on television in foreign countries, which is what we see here
in this country. We see ads from Canada and Mexico, tiny islands
all over the world—they are spending true advertising dollars, put-
ting that message on television, which is where most people receive
their messages these days.

The United States of America, to my knowledge, has never spent
dollars advertising in that way, rather only doing some print adver-
tising or mostly promotional programs and other things of that na-
ture. But not only are we not going to be competing in the future
with these other countries who are spending tremendous amounts
of money in television advertising, we never have done that.

We have been very fortunate to have the travel we have had over
these years, but the time is past when we can rely on that type
of activity to bring people to the United States.

Mr. Roth. I am the chairman of the Travel and Tourism Caucus
here on Capitol Hill. I serve on the committee dealing with com-
merce to save TTA. Do you know how many letters I got in opposi-

tion to doing away with TTA?
Ms. Fulton. How many? «... / ...
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Mr. Roth. Zero.

Ms. Fulton. That is so hard to imagine, because
Mr. Roth. Not a single one.

Ms. Fulton [continuing], so many of my colleagues in this indus-
try, including myself, have written to our own Senators and Mem-
bers of the House. We tend not to write to other people's Senators,
I think because we feel that we are more effective with our own.
Not to say that each of us has been able to get a yes vote out of

our own delegations either, but we deal with that on a local level

as well in the State, trying to generate activity on a local level to

go to the Capitol and demand attention and recognition and due re-

spect for an industry that contributes so much to the economy of

our States and our country. We try to do that on a national level.

It is easier on a local level for a mayor, for instance, to see the
impact that travel and tourism has. Therefore, your cities are often
more apt to put dollars in advertising programs and in marketing
programs such as they have done in our area, because the mayor
can track it more easily. But you get to a State level, it is a little

more difficult. You get to a Federal level, it is next to impossible
to get that message across, or it has been in the past. That is cer-

tainly something that this industry has come to the table about
and IS willing to make a greater effort on behalf of.

But until we have a strong marketing and advertising program
for this country, a generic advertising campaign worthy of the size

of this industry and its ability to produce revenue for this country
and jobs for this country, we will not be successful in the inter-

national market.
Mr. Roth. We must organize travel and tourism so we can have

some muscle. When people from Germany come here and say their

industry is as big as Mercedes and BMW combined, I am ashamed.
We need to organize this industry.

Don't you think so, Mr. Speros? If we cannot even save a little

agency like U.S.T.T.A., then we have to reconsider how we are ap-
proaching this thing.

Mr. Speros. We feel in Wisconsin, Mr. Chairman, that the entire

purpose for the conference at the end of October is to be acknowl-
edged for the importance of our industry, and the nine issues that
we certainly ag^ee on are problems and/or issues we need to dis-

cuss, but they will probably all be the same as the 50 States.

We want to show how important we are. Governor Thompson
wants you to bring the next conference in 1996 to Wisconsin so

that we do not stop that. That is another concern of mine. Are we
going to have one and then just matter of factly blow us off? Are
they all done listening to us?

Ajid we are at fault in this. I am looking at ourselves as the in-

dustry. We need to let them know how important we are, because
they seem to not care or thev do not seem to be listening. So we
have a job ahead of us, and we appreciate your involvement in

that, sir.

Mr. Roth. We are going to work with the White House as much
as we can and try to get our Congressmen involved. I am going to

ask you to help us educate our Congressmen. I do not blame the
Congressmen because when they say, "$16 million," Congresssmen
have no idea that Greece spends $130 million. We cannot tell you
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bow many marks the Germans spend, because tbat would just to-

tally blow us away.
We are going to come together. After this conference, we are

going to have a followup because I intend to call a summit of travel

and tourism and we are going to get bright people like Sandra Ful-

ton there, and Bill Norman, and yes, Doctor, you too. All of us. So
that when we get together in travel and tourism, the Grermans sit

there and envy us, instead of us envying them. That has got to be
our goal.

You were going to say something, Mr. Norman?
Mr. Norman. Just to answer your question, Mr. Chairman, Ger-

man last year spent $32 million in their tourism promotion, double
what we spent.

Mr. Roth. Who did?
Mr. Norman. Germany,
Mr. Roth. I very much appreciate having this panel here, and

we are going to do more of this to heighten the profile of travel and
tourism. Thank you for coming from such a long way. I know it has
been a hardship for you. This is something that has got to be done
for our industry because this industry has oeen so good to us.

Yes? Sandra, you were going to say something?
Ms. Fulton. Chairman Roth, if you will bring the Congressmen

together, we will bring the industry together, and we will talk.

Mr. Roth. Oh. Thank you.
Ms. Fulton. Thank you.
Mr. Roth. That is on the record, and I will be in touch with you,

Sandra. Thank you.
Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 3:10 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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Mr. Chainnan, Members ofthe Committee,

K is a pleasure to be here today and to have this opportunity to talk with you about an issue in which

every American has a stake.

That issue is whether the United States will continue to attract its historic share ofthe international

travel and tourism market.

Travel and tourism is akeady the second largest employer in our nation - after health care. It

employs either directly or indirectly 13 million Americans.

And the beauty of travel and tourism as an employer is that — more than any other industry — it

reaches into every community in this country; from our largest cities to our smallest towns, along

super highways as well as back roads, on our ocean shores and our most inland waterways. It shows

off that which is special because of culture, history or natural beauty.

Travel and tourism is also a major source of tax revenue — generating $58 billion in taxes. And it

produces a sizeable trade surplus: a surplus that peaked in 1993 at $22 billion - which was then

roughly equivalent to the U.S.-Japan trade deficit in motor vehicles.

The opportunity that we, as a nation, have before us is that international travel and tourism is growing

rapidly. By the year 2000, more than 661 million people will be traveling throughout the world.

That's twice as many people as traveled in 1985.

As those people travel, they create jobs: jobs with airlines, hotels, rental car companies, restaurants,

and cultural and other attractions.

Ifgrowing numbers of people travel to the United States, those jobs will be created here.
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But the current trend lines suggest that a serious problem accompanies that opportunity.
^'

Since 1993, the U.S. share ofworldwide intemadonal tourism recdpts has dropped from 18.7 percent

to 15.6 percent. That translates into a loss ofmore than 17 percent of our market share. 17 percent!

That decline in marketshare has had a direct impact on our balance oftrade. As you can see from the

chart, by the end of this year, the trade surplus this industry generates will have dropped to $18.5 '

billion — a drop of 1 9 percent in just two years, [show chart] -^

But even more alarming than the decline in trade surplus is the effect a drop in marketshare is having •

on the employment front. This loss has already meant that 177,000 jobs which could have been •^

created in this country went elsewhere — because the travelers went elsewhere.

177,000 jobsl That's equal to the number of jobs that have been lost since 1992 through layoffs at

General Motors, Boeing, Digital Equipment, McDonnell-Douglas and Bell South combined.

And the storm clouds are only beginning to gather. -i

The U.S. share of international travel expenditures in the year 2000 is expected to plummet fiirther

to 13.8 percent — meaning that in a seven-year period, the United States will have lost 26 percent of ^

its market share. ^

•: ' Ml i i'V< >. '

l^"'
'

This additional decline would mean that the United States could miss out on more than 370,000 more

jobs, as well as $28.5 billion in expenditures, and an additional $3.6 billion in tax revenue.

We cannot allow this to happen. At a time when this nation is losing tens ofthousands ofjobs in

declining industries, we have to find ways to replace those jobs, and a perfect opportunity is provided

by the travel and tourism industry.. .ifwe market ourselves in the right way.

So what's going on? Why is the nation's second largest industry slipping?
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It's another case of an American industry failing to do what it must to stay globally competitive. In

many ways we're like the automobile industry in the '60s. Comforted by short-term revenue growth,

brought about by demographic changes in the country, they did not focus on the fact that their

international market share was dropping.

And soon they no longer had the commanding position in the world they once enjoyed.

Our industry must not make the same mistakes.

Our country has failed to make travel and tourism international marketing a high economic priority.

For a decade, the U.S. Travel and Tourism Administration has been &nded at low levels compared

to the national tourism offices of other nations.

In 1993, the United States ranked 33rd in the world in terms of national tourism promotion budgets,

lagging behind such countries as Tunisia and Malaysia, not to mention more economically developed

countries like France and the United Kingdom. At the time, the United States government spent

$16 million to promote the United States as tourist destination, Greece spent $143 million and

Mexico $139 million.

But fiinding is not the only issue. What is needed now is a new national tourism strategy...one that

puts the muscle of the public and private sectors together to market our nation. That strategy will

begin to unfold next month, spurred by President Clinton's decision to host the first-ever White

House Conference on Travel and Tourism. The conference will take place here in Washington, DC

on October 30 and 31, and I hope that as many Members of Congress as possible will participate.

At that time, government officials and industry leaders will gather to propose a new strategy that has

already begun to develop through conferences and meetings in all 50 states. In fact, more than

15,000 men and women have now participated in those discussions.
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One fundamental feature ofthe new strategy that is already becoming clear is that a new marketing

entity is needed. The U.S. Travel and Tourism Admimstration needs to be replaced, and its

replacement needs to be a public-private partnership:

• a partnership in which both industry and government have confidence and to which both

industry and government will be willing to contribute;

• a partnership which can be run with relatively little overhead and substantially more marketing

impact.

An effective partnership is needed to address the marketing and research requirements ofour share

ofthe market and to help leverage the limited budgets of states, cities and industry sub-sectors. And,

just like any business, it should be judged on the return generated by the investment.

Australia and Canada have recently created similar public-private partnerships. These new

organizations are each spending $100 million this year and have developed creative and aggressive

national tourism programs, as you'll see in the folloAving videos...[show tape of ads]

There's no reason a new American tourism partnership can't be running ads ofthe same caliber in

the very near future.

I am not here to argue for the status quo. As we in the United States move hopefully to a public-

private partnership, it is important that the USTTA be funded at the President's requested $16.3

million level for one final year... at which time a new partnership would be operational.

This transition period is enormously important. It gives us time to begin implementing the

recommendations that will emerge from the White House Conference, time to help kickoflfthe 1996

Summer Olympics in Atlanta, and time to transition to a new public-private partnership.

The opportunity that is before us is enormous and very exciting. We have a chance to produce many

ofthe jobs for which.the American people are searching.

J
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We know that thesejobs are being created. We know how to bring them to the United States. The

only question is whether we as a nation can mobilize ourselves, in both the public and private sectors,

to achieve this economic growth together.

The White House Conference provides an historic chance to prove that we can. I hope that we, as

a nation, will seize it. Otherwise the words ofmy Canadian counterpart may very well come to pass.

Let me share with you this quote from Doug Fyfe, executive director of Canada's new public/private

partnership... "Ifthe United States Congress eliminates its national tourism ofiBce, it may well make

ourjob of attracting more international visitors to Canada easier. More visitors improves our balance

oftrade and creates more jobs for Canadians."

Let's bring those jobs home to the United States instead!
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SUBCOMMIiTEE ON INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY AND TRADE

HOUSE INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS COMMITTEE
September 28, 1995

Thank you C1\ainnan Rodi for bviting me to testify oa the importaat topic of how we
can best promote international travel to dw United States. Intcmfitioud tourism is a

fundamental part of our economy. It is our nation's largest services export International

tourists aimually spend {^^proximately $77 billion in the United States. Our trade surplus in

this sector is approximately S22 billion annually.

We must also recognize that international tourism is not only important to our major

metropolitan areas, the gateways duough which international travelen; arrive, it is also

importaat for our small cities and rural areas. In my state of Soudi Dakota, tourism is our

second largest industry. Internationa] tourism offers exciting market potential as mtemational

travel becomes more prevalent in (he future.

The challenge wc face is finding feasible ways for government to facilitate

international travel to the United States. Some countries deploy large govenunental spending

programs to advertise and promote travel options in their country. Budget realities, however,

simply do not permit a large federal spending program of this nature. Simply put, the

challenge for us is to find ways for government to assist mdustry and the stales in promoting

international travel to the United States without initiating new spending programs.

This challenge requires a creative examination of what government is already doing.

Wc must find ways to undertake present activities in ways that more effectively promote the

United States as a destination for international travel. As Chairman of the Seiurte Committee

on Commerce, Science and Transportation, I am actively searching for such opportunities.

In May I wrote lo Secretary of State Christopher asking him to evaluate ways in which

foreign service officers can become more hclpfiil to those seeking to travel to the United

States. Foreign service officers simply must be educated on the importance of tourism and

they must recognize that they are on the fi-ont line in facilitating beneficial travel to the

United States. I asked Secretary Christopher to develop mechanisms to make information

more accessible to those making inquiries about travel and tourism destinations in the United

States.

This spring I received a letter from a Spanish woman asking why the U.S. consulate

and embassy did not have a list of phone numbers for tourist infomiation sources for travel

-continued-
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destinations she was considering. I believe thjs woman raises an important issue: tourism

information should be readily available at all our embassies and consulates. New technologies

offer exciting opportunities to provide persuasive and meaningful informaQon conveniently.

Our foreign service officers should be trained to provide that information. Apparently,

Secretary Christopher does not agree, or he has not considered my request, as I have yet to

receive a response from him.

In the quest to improve government's ability to facilitate international tourism, we
must examine existing tourism programs and make them function better. 1 understand that the

federal government has 170 programs relating to tourism and those programs are managed by

approximately 30 departments or agencies. We must reexamine these programs to ensure that

individually diey are functioning efficiently. We must also find ways to coordinate these

programs more effectively.

It is imperative that we succeed in this mission. The United States is losing market

share as world-wide international travel expands. We must, howevw, acknowledge that

budget realities do not permit new governmental initiatives wiiich would require new federal

ftinding.

In these times of belt-tightening we must pledge to do more wldi less. Sometimes this

will mean undertaking activities that do not directly impact tourism but which have significant

long term effect For example, I am confident that one of the best travel promotion devices is

the international popularity of American movies and television programming. When our trade

partners establish trade barriers against American mo>ics or TV programs, as the French have

done, we must continue to fight for free trade. Not only is it important to industries

immediately involved but each of these programs is essentially a travel advertisement for the

United States.

In discussing the promotion of international travel to the United States, one must speak

honestly about the United States Travel and Tourism Agcacy. I was instrumental in the

creation of USTTA and bear a corresponding fondness for the agency. Unfortunately, the

budget realities 1 have mentioned dictate the USTl A's dissolution. 1 know the Framework

Group of the up-coming White House Conference on Tourism is examining ways to create a

new public-private partnership for tourism promotion. I whole-heartedly endorse those

efforts.

The ultimate dissolution of USTTA means that government and industry must work

even more closely together to creatively promote the United States as a destination for

international touri<5m. Wc must all work to make sure that the International Trade

Administration addresses tourism issues as a part of its genend trade development and

promotion activities. Similarly, we must make sure that the Bureau of Economic Analysis

adequately absorbs statistical research programs for the travel industry.

Sometime in the next few days the Senate is scheduled to tjike up the Commerce,

Justice, State appropriations bill. Presently that bill only provides fimds to close down the

-continued-
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USTTA. I believe, however, that funds should be provided both to permit the USTTA's
involvement in the White House Conference on Tourism and facilitate the implementation of

a new public-private partnership for the promotioa of international tourism.

In the Hftu.se appropriations bill an additional $2 million was provided for these

activities. I support, and intend to offer, an amendment to provide that additional $2 million

in funds. Otlicrs axe likely to try for more funding, but I do not believe there are sufficient

votes to support those efforts, and I do not believe the provision would survive a conference.

Consequently, I hope to obtain support in the Senate for the additional $2 million in funding

as this will at least assure some funding for implementing the framework group's

recommendations.

Thank you Chairman Roth for conducting (his hearing on a truly important topic. I

pledge to work vrtth all interested parties as we seek to promote the United States' as a

destination for international tourism.
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Testimony by Richard Speros. Wliconiln Division of Tourism

Conoresslonal Subcommittse on International Economic Policy & Tradt
9/28/96

CHAIRMAN ROTH, COMMITTEE MEMBERS, THANK YOU FOR THE
OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THE UNITED
STATES INTERNATIONAL TOURISM EFFORTS WITH YOU TODAY. I'M

RICHARD SPEROS. ADMINISTRATOR OF THE WISCONSIN DIVISION

OF TOURISM.

IN PREPARING FOR THE UPCOMING WHITE HOUSE CONFERENCE -

ON TRAVEL AND TOURISM . MY OFFICE HAS SPENTA GOOD DEAL
OF TIME DISCUSSING THE ISSUES BEFORE US TODAY. WE HAVE
ALSO BEEN INVOLVED IN DISCUSSIONS OF THESE TOPICS WITH
THE U.S. STATE TRAVEL DIRECTORS ASSOCIATION, THE
MARKETING COMMITTEES OF THE GREAT LAKES GOVERNOR'S
ASSOCIATION AND THE MISSISSIPPI RIVER PARKWAY COMMISSION.

EACH OF THESE ORGANIZATIONS AND MANY MORE HAVE REACHED
THE SAME OVERALL CONCLUSION: THE UNITED STATES IS NOT
EFFECTIVELY PROMOTING ITS TOURISM PRODUCT ABROAD.

INTERNATIONAL TOURISM IS BIG BUSINESS. IN 1994.

INTERNATIONAL TRAVELERS SPENT $77 BILLION IN THE U.S..

GENERATING NEARLY 6.2 MILLION JOBS. AND, BECAUSE
INTERNATIONAL TRAVELERS SPEND MUCH MORE THAN U.S.

CITIZENS SPEND ABROAD. INTERNATIONAL TOURISM PRODUCES A
TRADE SURPLUS OF MORE THAN $22 BILLION.

EVEN THOUGH WISCONSIN'S MARKETING EFFORTS FOCUS
PRIMARILY ON DOMESTIC TOURISM. INTERNATIONAL TRAVELERS
SPENT $250 MILLION IN WISCONSIN IN 1694.

HOWEVER, AT A TIME WHEN TRAVEL AND TOURISM AROUND THE
GLOBE IS BOOMING, ACCORDING TO THE TRAVEL INDUSTRY

ASSOCIATION. THE UNITED STATES IS LOSING ITS MARKET SHARE.

INTERNATIONAL TOURISM HAS DECLINED IN THE U.S. DURING THE
PAST TWO YEARS. AND THIS TREND MUST BE HALTED.
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ONE OBVIOUS SOLUTION IS TO MORE AGGRESSIVELY MARKET THE
UNITED STATES ABROAD. HOWEVER. THIS REQUIRES MORE
PROMOTIONAL FUNDING, WHICH HAS BEEN INCREASINGLY HARD
TO COME BY AT THE FEDERAL LEVEL.. THE FACT THAT 30
COUNTRIES SPEND MORE THAN THE UNITED STATES ON
INTERNATIONAL TOURISM PROMOTION IS UNBELIEVABLE.

A SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT, WHETHER ITS SOLELY PUBLIC OR,
MORE LIKELY, PUBLIC AND PRIVATE, MUST BE MADE..

BEING AN ACTIVE MEMBER OF THE TOURISM INDUSTRY,!

REMEMBER WHEN WISCONSIN'S STATE GOVERNMENT TOOK
TOURISM FOR GRANTED, MAKING VERY LITTLE INVESTMENT IN

PROMOTION. WHEN GOVERNOR THOMPSON TOOK OFFICE IN 1987,

THIS PRO-TOURISM GOVERNOR CONVINCED THE LEGISLATURE
THAT TOURISM WAS A "REVENUE GENERATOR' AND IF TOURISM
WERE TO GROW, A PROPER INVESTMENT NEEDED TO BE MADE.

SINCE THEN, WISCONSIN'S TOURISM MARKETING BUDGET HAS
INCREASED FROM JUST OVER $1 MILLION ANNUALLY TO $8 MILLION

TODAY. IN ADDITION TO INCREASING THE TOURISM BUDGET, OUR
LEGISLATURE HAS PASSED NUMEROUS BILLS FAVORABLE TO THE
TOURISM INDUSTRY, INCLUDING THIS YEARS CREATION OF A
DEPARTMENT OF TOURISM, ELEVATING THE DIVISION TO A CABINET
LEVEL AGENCY.

AS A RESULT OF THIS SUPPORT AND COMMITMENT. WISCONSIN'S
TOURISM ECONOMY IS STRONG, IT ANNUALLY GENERATES MORE
THAN $6 BILLION IN TRAVELER EXPENDITURES. RETURNS $596
MILLION IN STATE REVENUES AND $320 MILLION IN LOCAL
REVENUES. IT ALSO PROVIDES JOBS FOR OVER 145,000

WISCONSIN RESIDENTS, GENERATING $3 BILLION IN PERSONAL
INCOME.

AS YOU CAN SEE. A RELATIVELY MINIMAL INVESTMENT IN THE
TOURISM INDUSTRY CAN PRODUCE TREMENDOUS RESULTS.



46

IN ADDITION TO GREATER ECONOMIC AND LEGISLATIVE SUPPORT
FROM THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT. ANOTHER SOLUTION TO
ASSIST U.S. TOURISM PROMOTION WOULD BE TO CREATE A NEW
FEDERAL TOURISM OFFICE.

THIS OFFICE WOULD BE LED BY A MINISTER OF TOURISM WHO
CHAIRS A BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND AN EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
MADE UP OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SECTOR REPRESENTATIVES.

THE FUNCTIONS OF THIS OFFICE WOULD BE TO EXPAND THE
COOPERATIVE GRANT PROGRAMS FOR MULTI^TATE
INTERNATIONAL MARKETING ORGANIZATIONS, SUCH AS THE GREAT
LAKES GOVERNOR'S ASSOCIATION MARKETING COMMITTEE.
OTHER FUNCTIONS WOULD INCLUDE, ENHANCED INTERNATIONAL
RESEARCH AND AN OVERHAUL OF CURRENT USTTA PROGRAMS.

THESE ACTIVITIES SHOULD BE HANDLED BYA SMALL
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF IN WASHINGTON D.C. THIS
RESTRUCTURED OFFICE - A TRUE PUBLIC/PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP -

WOULD RESULT IN ALL FIFTY STATES RECEIVING EQUITABLE
ACCESS TO INTERNATIONAL MARKETING ASSISTANCE, NOT JUST
THE MOST POWERFUL INTERNATIONAL TOURISM STATES.

STATES SUCH AS WISCONSIN DESERVE LOGICAL AND FINANCIALLY

VIABLE AVENUES THROUGH WHICH THEY CAN REACH
INTERNATIONAL TRAVELERS. A SMALL FEDERAL OFFICE FUNDED
AND MANAGED BY PUBLIC/PRIVATE ENTITIES THAT PLACE A
STRONG EMPHASIS ON A REGIONAL MARKETING APPROACH
AFFORDS US THIS OPPORTUNITY.

ALSO, THE ELEVEN USTTA FOREIGN OFFICES SHOULD BE CLOSED
AND THEIR FUNCTIONS CONTRACTED THROUGH PRIVATE FIRMS TO
MEET THE SPECIFIC NEEDS OF INDIVIDUAL STATES AND REGIONAL
MARKETING GROUPS.
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I ALSO SUPPORT A ONE YEAR FUNDING EXTENTION FOR USTTA TO
FACILITATE AN ORDERLY TRANSITION TO A NEW FEDERAL TOURISM
OFFICE.

THERE HAS NEVER BEEN A MORE EXCITING AND CHALLENGING
TIME FOR THE UNITED STATES TOURISM INDUSTRY. BY THE YEAR
2000. TRAVEL AND TOURISM WILL BE THE LARGEST INDUSTRY IN

THE WORLD AND EACH YEAR BECAUSE OF THE ECONOMIC
BENEFITS, THERE ARE NEW PLAYERS COMPETING IN THE
INTERNATIONAL TOURISM GAME.

THE UNITED STATES TOURISM INDUSTRY HAS BEEN SUCCESSFUL
IN ATTRACTING MANY INTERNATIONAL TOURISTS TO OUR SHORES.
BUT WE HAVE BEEN RESTING ON OUR LAURELS. ALL STATES
MUST HAVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO AGGRESSIVELY COMPETE FOR
TRAVELERS WITHIN A COMPREHENSIVE. EFFECTIVE AND FAIR

SYSTEM.

THE STATES WILL MEET THE CHALLENGES THAT LIE AHEAD. BUT
THE STATES ARE NOT THE ISSUE; THE ISSUE IS THE FEDERAL
GOVERNMENT NOT ABANDONING IT'S RESPONSIBILITY TO
PROMOTE INTERNATIONAL TOURISM

THANK YOU
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GREAT LAKES TOURISM STRATEGY TASK FORCE
Dlinoii • Indiuu • Miohi|«a • MlnnewU • N«w York • Penniylvuii • Ohio • WuooQlia

Amended NCSTD Rynlnftft^

Th« Tourism Stntcgy Taik Force, of the Council of Great Ukei Oovemon, «ndorie$ th«

following, •mended veriion of the National Council of Statt Travel Director! (NCSTD)
resolution for the itnicture of the ftderal touritm organization.

Background!

1. The state tnvd offlcei in the U.S. repreamt and market every legroeat ofthe U.S.
travel Industiy, from the largest corporation to the smallest entrepreneur.

2. The state travel o£Bc«i represent the ipcctmm of international in-bound tourism

development, from well-estabilihed intemadooal destinations to emerging intemationel

, destinations.

3. As public entitiea, the state travel offices in the U.S. are accountable to all U.S. voten

and taxpayers.

4. Currently, the state travel offices spend $13.3 million* on the promotion and

development ofinbound, International tourism.

RMoluUnn One

The Tourism Strategy Task Force, of the Council of Great Lakes Govemon, endorses the

creation of a federal minister oftourism post as a high ranking official ofthe U.S. government

RMOlutlon. Two

The new U.S. minister of tourism, as the highest ranking tourism official, should chair the federal

-tourism office's Board of Directors and Executive Committee. The vice chair ofboth the Board

and Executive Committee should be a member of the private sector. The National Council of

State Travel Directors, u representatives of the entire U.S. travel industry, and u pubfa'c officials

accountable to the entire U.S. electorate, should have ligni^cant representation on the Board and

Executive Committee of the federal tourism organization.

* Iccluck* ttate tniv«t oflBec figure* (ofreporting sute*) deuiled in Um 19$4.9S edition ofthe Travel bduiay
A»soci«iion'i "Surwy rfSut* Tfivel OflScw."
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GREAT LAKES TOURISM STRATEGY TASK FORCE
niinoii • Indiini • Mlchlgm • Minneiou • N«w Yoric • Pttuuylvinii • OUo • Wlwoculn

Recommendgd Rolt of fh» VrArr*} Gcvtenmtnt

The Tourbm Strategy Task Force, of the Council of Great Lakea Govenjon, endorui the

following recommendations for the role ofthe ftderal government In promoting International

tourism:

Ocntn] Policy Sutemtnt

A new public/private partnership with strong representation of state and muhi-state regional

tourism organizations must be adopted to guarantee access of all My states to international

marketing astisttnce. The federal government must take an active role, and the new organization

should not be totally privatized.

Sp^fIHg rgfompi^ndaHoni foi- the rolt of the fcdeitl government

Appropriate adequate ftinds to continue the operation of federal tourism office ftinctions

for the purpose ofredesigning programs and implementing White House Confbrenoe

recommendations.

The top priority is a continuation/expansion ofthe current matching grant program for

multi-state marketing organizations.

The second priority is for the federal government to continue its intemationa] research

function.

The coordination of both of these priorities should be handled by a small administrative

staifbased in Washington, D.C.. We recommend the current ofTices in overseas markets

be closed immediately. Current foreign office ftinctions should be contracted through

private firms.
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Good afternoon Chairman Roth and members of the Subcommittee.

My name is Linda Paresky. I am Senior Vice President for Travel

Education and Policy Development at American Express Company.

On behalf of American Express, I am delighted to be here today to talk

about the importance of Travel and Tourism in the U.S. economy.

However, first I would like to salute you Mr. Chairman for your rj^,

leadership over the years in promoting growth-oriented public policy for

the Travel and Tourism industry.

" -'' ,' ^>iH ';. ' :;';iJi j<f'''l •*•

Mr. Chairman, it's easy to understand why American Express takes the

continued health and promotion of our industry so seriously:

• Our charge and credit cards are synonymous with "travel";

• Our Travelers Cheque product is over 100 years old; and
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• Our travel agency, with over 1,700 worldwide offices, is the world's

largest.

In addition, many of our most important business partners, including

airlines, hotels, restaurants, travel agents, and attractions, rely on the

vitality of the travel and tourism industry.

Mr. Chairman, there are two issues that I would like to focus on today -

each has important public policy implications. One represents a threat

and the other a great opportunity.

• First the threat - the U.S. trade deficit is widening significantly. Some

are even predicting that it could reach $200 billion this year.

• And the opportunity - next month the first-ever White House

Conference on Travel and Tourism will be held in Washington.
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To put this all in context, I would like to illustrate the importance of

Travel & Tourism and the strength it brings to the economy -

particularly with respect to our trade balance.

• Travel & Tourism ranks as our country's second largest employer. It

provides approximately 6 million jobs.

• It accounts for $56 billion in tax revenue for federal, state and local

governments.

• It is also responsible for roughly 10.5% of G.D.P. or approximately

$800 billion in direct and indirect revenue.

• In the international trade arena. Travel & Tourism is our country's

largest service export. The spending by international visitors adds

significantly to our export earnings. While our goods deficit is

roughly $180 billion; our services surplus is about $60 billion,

offsetting 1/3 of the deficit. Travel & Tourism is the single largest

component of that surplus at $21.6 billion in 1994 or over 30%. In

fact, just last week the Commerce Department reported the July
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trade figures which revealed an $11.5 billion deficit - the largest

monthly deficit on record. However, even within this bleak report,

Travel and Tourism again produced a surplus of just under $5 billion

which is 29"/o of the total surplus in services.

I call these facts to your attention today because, in spite of our past

performance and future potential, we are witnessing some alarming

trends. U.S. Travel & Tourism is experiencing a slowdown in growth.

While the worldwide market for international visitors is growing and

projections over the next ten years call for continued robust increases in

the numbers of visitors traveling outside their countries, the U.S. is

losing international market share. While the global pie is growing, we

have been receiving a smaller slice for the last three years. But what

should be of greater concern is that actual international visitor arrival

numbers are projected to decrease 5.5% this year. This is occurring

despite the weakness of the dollar.
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Why Are Visitor Arrivals Declining?

The competition is getting tougher. Other countries have recognized

Travel and Tourism as a strategic economic development priority and

many are reaping the rewards of increased visitor arrivals as a result of

their investments in infrastructure, promotion and visitor services. For

example, Australia recently announced that it was launching a new $100

million three year effort even though its current visitor arrival numbers

are strong. ..- -.

,

.;.,..<,

r.--ii

What Should We Do to Respond?

• Before we can move forward with an effective strategy, there must be

a shared understanding between the public and private sectors that

the Travel and Tourism industry is an economic powerhouse.

Clearly, the trade figures I have cited give evidence to that.

• Secondly, to regain world class preeminence we need an aggressive

national strategy.



56

As you know, a bold new strategy is currently being developed by the

industry in collaboration with the U.S. Travel and Tourism

Administration (USTTA) in preparation for next month's White

House Conference on Travel and Tourism. I would be remiss if at

this point I didn't acknowledge the fine leadership that Under

Secretary Greg Farmer has provided throughout the process.

Thirdly, we need to remove "barriers" that inhibit travel to the U.S.

Consensus is building through the state conference process that we

must relieve unnecessary delays and bottlenecks by improving

customs procedures and by upgrading outdated air traffic control

systems; by improving border inspection processes; by expanding

visa waivers; by enabling greater use of preinspection stations

abroad; by providing better training for our inspection staff; and by

adopting international signage. Also, we need timely, accurate, and

comprehensive data on the contributions of the Travel and Tourism

industry. This can be achieved by the enhancement of the Standard

Industrial Classification System (SIC) and the creation of a National

Satellite Account (NSA) for Travel and Tourism.
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By making these improvements and others, the U.S. will significantly

enhance its competitiveness and make our country more user-friendly.

Early on American Express recognized the potential of the White House

Conference and has been an active participant throughout the process.

It is our hope that the conference will be a catalyst for a meaningful

dialogue between the private sector and the federal government on a

framework and timetable to implement the final recommendations.

I know that my Travel and Tourism industry colleagues share our

commitment to work with the federal government, and the Congress, to

help increase our export surplus, create even more jobs, and rebuild

America's world class leadership in this important growth industry.

One thing is clear, if collectively we do nothing, a prolonged decline in

international visitors coming to the U.S. will have negative effects on our

economy. It will mean fewer jobs - for example, the 5.5% decline in

visitor arrivals that is projected for 1995 represents 170,000 jobs. For
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the public sector, it will mean a decrease in tax receipts and a higher

trade deficit. Clearly, this is a trend we must reverse.

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, with that in mind as the

White House Conference recommendations are endorsed, the industry

would be grateful for your continued leadership in introducing

legislation to implement the final conference recommendations that will

unleash the Travel and Tourism industry's great potential.

Thank you.
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Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before you today. 1 um here to express the

travel and tourism industry's views on oversea.v promotion and the vital role it plays in the health

of our country's economy.

[ am Sandra Fulton. Vice Prcxident- Industry Relations of Opryland "

Hospitality and

Attrattions/Gaylord Enicrtainmciil Company. Also, I served as the Commissioner, Department of

Tourist Development in Tennessee, for 8 years. 1 am also First Vice Chairman and incoming

National Chair of the Travel Industry Association of America (TIA). TIA is a membership

organitatiDn which is comprised of representatives from every scjjmcnt of the travel and tourism

industry.

Travel and Tnurism and lis Cuntrlbulinns to America's Ecunomj

It is a little known but impressive fact that the travel and touri.sm industry is a significant contributor

to the economy of the United States. According to a recent survey conducted by TIA, the travel and

tourism industry, in reality, ranks fu^st for jobs, first for sales/revenues, and first for trade surplus

in comparison with four major U.S. industries - automobile manufacturing, electronics,

pharmaceutical manufacturing and chemical manufacturing. However. U.S. Lonsumcrs perceive

that uut(.)mobilc manufacturing ranks fual for jobs and trade surplus, while electronics is perceived

to be first in salcs/revcnucs. As this nation's second largest employer, this industry provides over

6 million jobs for people from all walks of life. This industry allows people of all skill levels to

succeed and advance, from waiters to hotel managers to entertainers and corporate cxecutivei.

In addition to providing major job opportunities, this industry is a powerful generator of economic

benefits. In 1994, an estimated $417 billion in expenditures resulted from travel and tourism

activity. Not only is travel and tourism America's leading export, but with 45.5 million

international visitors spending $78 billion, while 46 million American.*; traveling abroad spent only

$56 billion, a $22 billion tourism trade surplus was created in 1994. More specifically, international

visitors spent an amazing $214 million per day on travel in the US. in 1994.

Further, travel and tourism contributes $58 billion in tax revenue a year for federal, state, and local

govcnunents. In my home state of Tennessee, nearly $1.4 billion in tax revenue was generated by

travel and tourism in 1993. This helps my state, and the country a.s a whole, to remain economically

stable. $216 million in expenditures is generated by international visitors alone in Tennessee.

My own city and the company for which I work offer some points of illustration. Even though the

volume of international visitation to Nashville is relatively small right now. Nashville is known

around the world. The reason, of cour.<!c. is that Nashville is Music City USA.

At the heart of Nashville's being Music City USA is the Grand Ole Opry, the lungest running radio

show in the world and the cornerstone of my company. Gaylord Entertainment. The Grand 01c

Opry went on the air in 1925, and Nashville has been making music ever since. The music that we

make in Nashville reaches every corner of the globe, and we in Nashville work diligently to entice

people to visit us.
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And wc arc not shy aboul promoiing ourselves. For inntancc, one of the newer parts of our company
is a Cable television scrviLc tailed Country Music Television, or CMT. CMT started as a service

for North America, but it now has expanded its satellite reach to virtually encircle the globe. Our

international outreach siartal with the United Kingdom and western Europe -- and it now has spread

to all of South America and throughout the Pacific Rim.

I cite the longstanding image of the Grand Ole Opry and the worldwide reach of Country Music

Television to illustrate a point. That point is that de.<ipi(e our having a .solid image and a modem
means of communication, a broader, more gencraJ, promotion of tourism in America must undergird

our efforts.

This country has been lucky.

We have benefitted for years from the fact that this is the greatest place in the world to live - and

its at the top of the "dream vacation" list for many people around the world. Wc have taken for

granted that they will continue to flfKk here, and in even greater numbers as travel barriers come

down in many countries. But our luck may be running out. The competition is very keen for the

travelers and their currency, because of the obvious economic benefits.

Current Status nf Overseas Promotion for the Travel and Touriam Industry

America's travel products must be promoted as a true export, with a substantial investment in

generic marketing programs worthy of such a major economic contributor. Unfortunately, travel

and tourism lacks national government investments in promoting and marketing, and the

consequences of such neglect arc grave indeed. By virtually Ignoring this Industry and its unlimited

potential, we have pushed our luck too far. With the U.S. travel trade surplus eroding 4% in 1994,

the need for investment in this industry to counterbalance this dangerous trend is vital. The lack of

such investment is illustratetl by our current funding of the U.S. Travel and Tourism Administration

(USTTA.)

Under Secretary Farmer can give you the details on what USTTA has done over the years to assist

those of us around the country involved In this industry •• even though they have been so grossly

underfunded. But I can tell you, as the former Commissioner of the Tennessee Department of

Tourist Development in Nashville, that the USTTA ha.s been very supportive in many ways of our

promotional efforts abroad. Also, while I was Commissioner, I saw first hand how travel and

tourism timtributed to the economic welfare of rural communities undergoing difficult times. Small

businesses are the backbone of Tennessee communities, as is true all over America, and it should

be kept in mind dial the large majority of travel and tourism related enterprises are small businesses.

It has been said that small busincs.ses arc "engines of economic growth, creating the majority of the

Nation's new jobs, and contributing greatly to our standing in the world economy." We must

ensure that such contributions to America's prosperity continue, and USTTA does so by recognizing

the worth of such businesses in the travel and tourism industry and providing vital assistance to

enable them to grow and prosper.
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It is commendable that the USTTA docs so much with no little, but unfonunately iu budget is

.spread so thin that it cannot adequately handle the needs of an industry of such magnitude, Other
industries, which may be significant contributors to the U.S. economy in their own right but do not

come cloKe U) providing the economic impact in jobs and revenue of the travel and tourism industry,

receive far more funding for overseas promotion than does the USTTA. Most specifically, the U.S.

Department of Agriculture (USDA) received in FY95 over $200 million In funds earmarked for

overseas promotion. First, the Market Promobon Program of the USDA, run by the Foreign

Agriculture Service (FAS), received $1 10 million in funds to be used exclusively for the promotion

of agricultural products, with the exception of tobacco. In addition, the FAS, with a budget of $1 18

million, devotes much of its energy to marketing, and is similar in many ways to the USTTA. Like

the USTTA. the FAS runs trade shows and cooperative programs which market U.S. products, and

the FAS runs field offices in key foreign markets. There are roughly 30 field offices from which

the benefits of agriculture may be promoted and built upon.

Agriculture is a significant part of the global economy, of the economics of many states such as

Tennc.<:see and Wisconsin, and certainly our own personal lives. However, travel and tourism is

arguably an even stronger economic contributor to America, and travel Increases the quality of life

for millions of travelers. Export earnings from the agriculture industry in 1993 totaled $45 billion,

u respectable figure to be sure. However, it pales in comparison to the $74 billion 1993 export

earnings from the travel and tourism industry. Imagine what good can be done by travel and

tourism, how many more jobs may be created, how much more tax revenue generated, if it received

government support comparable to agriculture. There is no limit to the potential economic impact

of this industry - we must not allow the continual denial of adequate government support undermine

that potential growth and prosperity.

Future uf Oversea^) Promotion for the Travel and Tourism Industry

We have established that the cunent status of ovcr.scas promotion for the travel and tourism industry

is marginal at best We in this industry recognize that in this era of fiscal innovation and overhaul

creative and bold solutions must be found which address such problems. That is why TIA has

developed an "Action Plan for the Future," which addresses, along with other issues, the need for

private sector involvement in the global marketing of our industry as a whole.

Under the structure of the White House Conference on Travel and Tourism (WHCOTT), to be held

October 30-31 of this year, TIA has actively participated in industry discussions regarding the

formation of a new public/private partnership entity which will relieve the federal government of

much financial responsibility and overhead. TIA recommends that the USTTA be replaced with a

private sector managed, federally chartered National Tourist Office (NTO.) The goal of such a new

organization would be straightforward and simple - to create more competitive U.S. tourism

marketing efforts in the intemational marketplace. Specifically, TIA proposes that there should be

a national commitment to develop by the end of September, 1996. a private sector-oriented

public/private partnership organization to assume USTTA's current responsibilities for intemational

tourism promotion, and by the same date develop a reliable revenue stream to fund such an effort
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that would muke the United Stales comparable with other top tourism dciitination countries of the

world.

This is no mere pipedream. We fully expect that the indust/y as a whole, through the WHCOTT,
will formulate strategics for implcmcnution of such an NTO and is dedicated to this concept. While

the specifics will be decided at the October conference, the general strategy as viewed by TIA would

involve the entire industry and Congress in the creation of a structural framework and funding

strategy. This organization would be chartered by the fedcraJ government, but managed by the

private sector. Its purpose would be to improve U.S. competitiveness in international markets

through the promotion of travel to and within the United States. We arc confident that such a

partnership could substantially increase revenues from International tourism.

Part two of TIA's action plan calls for helping this new NTO develop and implement a competitive

international marketing program. The main goal of such a strategy would be an annual 5% growth

rate in the number of international arrivals in the US. This goal would mean a 63% compounded

increa.se in 10 years, and although that seems an impo.<;$ibly high figure to attain, we are convinced

that it is within this industry's reach. More specifically, such an increase would mean 12 nullion

more visitors by the year 2000. As the world enters into the 21st century, the travel and tourism

industry intends to be even more of a global economic force.

The specific strategy of such a program can be broken into four simple goals: 1) increase U.S.

dominance in traditional markcLs; 2) identify changes in international travel patterns expected in the

next decade and .support industry marketing efforts to capitalize on opportunities created by those

changing travel patterns; 3) aggressively compete with the appeal of newly available international

destinations; and 4) work to attract significant tourist visits to the U.S. from emerging travel

markets. Wc are convinced that fulfillnKnt of these goals will help to ensure international travel's

continuing positive contribution to the US, economy

That concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman, and I would be happy to answer any questions you

or other members of the subcommittee might have.
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Mr. Chaiiman, on behalf of the nation's travel and tourism industry, I appreciate the opportunity to

testify before you today. I am here to express the travel and tourism industry's desire to remain a

strong and vital force in today's international economy.

I am William S. Norman, President and CEO of the Travel Industry Association of America (TIA),

and Vice Chairman of the Travel and Tourism Government Affairs Council (TTGAC). The

TTGAC is a coalition of 36 national organizations. An affiliate of TIA, the Council is comprised

of representatives from every segment of the travel and tourism industry, including all modes of

transportation, accommodations, food services, travel agents, tour sales and operations, attractions

and recreation facilities, as well as state and local travel and tourism officials. A list of the Council's

membership is attached to this statement. It is on behalf of the Council that I appear before you

today.

The travel and tourism industry is a fast-growing and significant contributor to the global economy.

In the United States, the economic inportance of the travel and tourism industry has been a well kept

secret. As the nation's third-largest retail industry, travel and tourism generated $417 biUion in

expenditures in 1994. With more than six million direct employees, travel and tourism is the second

largest industry in the nation in terms of employment, ranking behind only health services, while

generating an annual payroll of $1 10 biUion.

Notably, the travel and tourism industry contributes a significant amount of tax revenue to our nation.

As creative solutions towards deficit reduction are explored, it should be understood that the travel

and tourism industry more than pulls its share of the fiscal weight by generating $58 billion in tax

revenue for federal, state, and local governments. Virtually every citizen in this nation benefits from

the financial successes of our industry ~ indeed, many communities are dependent on it. Specifically,

your home state of Wisconsin, Mr. Chairman, has recently given a vote of confidence to the travel

industry by allotting $8 million a year to a new tourism promotion budget. Governor Tommy
Thompson and your state recognize that to grow the 87,300 jobs, $984 million in payroll, $597

million in taxes, and nearly $5 billion in expenditures generated by the travel and tourism industry

in Wisconsin, state-sponsored investment and commitment are required.

When the economic impact of the travel and tourism industry is examined from an international

point of view, it becomes clear that the travel and tourism industry plays a major role in the world

marketplace. As a rare hybrid of both domestic and international spending, our industry generates

an enormous amount of revenue and contributes greatiy to our nation's economic stability.

International tourism to the U.S. supports 1.3 million jobs. As the nation's leading services export,

our industry generated $78 billion in expenditures from international visitors in 1994. Perhaps most

impressive of all is the fact that because these visitors spent more here than Americans spent abroad,

a $22 billion surplus was created.

While these figures are impressive, and indicate a growing and successful industry, I ask that you

indulge me as I try to illustrate the need for government investment in the travel and tourism industry.

Such investment is key to maintaining our nation's leadership role in the global marketplace.

Imagine, if you will, that I run a littie cheese shop outside of Green Bay, Wisconsin. Now you and

I both know, Mr. Chairman, that some of the best cheese comes from that state. In fact, most of the
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world knows that. Because I have the most superior cheese in the worid, and the best variety, I

figure I can save countless dollars by allowing word of mouth to be my only form of advertising.

My conpetitors in Tunisia, however, have decided to put much of their energies into the promotion

of their cheese. Tunisia is not the cheese capital of the world, and their product may not be as good

as Wisconsin's cheese. Despite this, they recognize that a significant profit may be made by

investment in cheese, and they allot $35.6 million of government funds into cheese promotion. They

market across the world. They hire an internationally known spokesperson, and suddenly cheese

becomes a goldmine of economic riches for the country. Meanwhile, back in Wisconsin, my
customers are dwindling. Despite the obvious fact that I am losing market share to foreign

operations, 1 still insist that my product will market itself and I stubbornly set my marketing budget

at almost nothing. Ignoring the warning signs, I continue to twiddle my thumbs and wait for loyal

customers to return to my superior product.

Obviously, that little cheese shop is meant to be analogous to the United States and its mere $16

million investment in tourism promotion through the U.S. Travel and Tourism Administration

(USTTA.) The consequences of the failure to market adequately any business is the same as our

cunent refusal to invest in overseas promotion of the United States as a travel destination. If we fail

to market the United States, as a whole, as a viable and worthwhile destination, then our global

market share will continue to decline. It is sinply good business to produce a quality product and

aggressively market it to allow the public to know that it exists and is worthy of exploration.

Returning to my analogy, just as the littie cheese shop would find it difficult to grow and prosper

without an adequate investment in marketing and sales, the same can be said about selling the whole

of the United States. At its current level of investment and promotion, the U.S. is penny wise and

pound foolish in its refusal to invest adequately in international marketing, given the significant return

on investment

While it may appear sinplistic, and perhaps humorous, to compare the promotion of the U.S. travel

and tourism industry with that of a small cheese company, please understand that this is serious

business when we talk about overseas promotion. Care must be taken to avoid misidentifying the

promotion budget of the USTTA, our current national tourism office, as a means to promote private-

sector companies whk;h have their own substantial budgets. I reemphasize, the USTTA markets the

United States as a whole, devoting its time and energy in foreign locations to promoting the whole

country and its regions, not different tourist attractions such as Disney World, the Mall of America,

or tile Green Bay Packers Hall of Fame. The USTTA does, however, provide materials which aid

travelers in their location of those travel attractions, along with hotels, restaurants, campgrounds,

and other tourism needs, thereby aiding states and local communities in their promotional efforts.

But not nearly enough is being done.

Perhaps the biggest threat to this industry's contributions to the U.S. economy is the decline in our

nation's global ti-avel market share. Since 1993, the U.S. has lost 17 percent of the market share of

worldwide international tourism receipts and is forecasted to continue this decline in 1995. Travel

to the U.S. is declining at a projected 1995 rate of 16%. I daresay that if this steady decline occurred
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in any other industry which contributed as much to our economy, there would be serious concern at

the national level and every effort would be made toward revival Instead, our national toiirism office

is threatened with obliteration in the interest of presumedly saving the country a few dollars. The

USTTA quite admirably works with its modest budget, and somehow offers such services as

professional responses to trade inquires, workshops and training programs, and the development of

cooperative marketing canpaigns with private sector businesses and the regional U.S. But with only

$16 million in funding for FY95, and comparable pittances throughout its history, this agency is not

provided with the necessary tools so that it may live up to its full potential, and the travel and tourism

industry - and the nation - are suffering for it

Consequently, the travel and tourism industry has been prompted to explore bold new approaches

towards the creation of a new National Tourist Organization (NTO) that would be adequately funded.

Through the structure of the White House Conference on Travel and Tourism (WHCOTT), which

is set to take place at the end of next month, key members of our industry are exploring strategies that

will advance the formation of such a public-private partnership.

While the details will be unveiled and voted on at theWHCOTT in October, allow me now to outline

the basic goals industry representatives have for such an NTO. The primary goal is more

competitive U.S. tourism marketing efforts in the international marketplace. To avoid being

left in the "global economic dust," as it were, the United States must start marketing itself more

aggressively and effectively. The U.S. now spends less on its National Tourist Office than do thirty

other nations, including Singapore, Tunisia, Cyprus and Poland. The travel and tourism industry is

committed to developing a reliable revenue stream to fund an international tourism promotion effort

that is competitive with other top tourism destination countries of the world.

Such aggressive marketing can be achieved through a private sector-oriented public/private

partnership organization which will assume USTTA's current responsibilities for international tourism

promotion. The industry understands that in these financially stressed times, when every aspect of

government funding is being scrutinized and trimmed, that the nation and the industry would perhaps

be better served if USTTA were reorganized into such a public/private partnership. Our travel and

tourism industry recognizes the severe limitations on government resources, but we are convinced

that allowing the USTTA to continue for one more year is a vitally needed commitment and

investment. Without the transition time to implement this bold new partnership, the travel and

tourism industry would be forced to scramble to handle short term crises, which could result in ill

advised actions with unknown implications.

The travel and tourism industry has come together in full force under the structure of the WHCOTT.
Every segment of the industry is working in unity to bring a bold new vision to how we do business

in a way that is cost effective and efficient But we must have time to implement such strategies so

that the consequences of continued declining market share are avoided. Overseas promotion of such

a vital industry, which is undeniably linked to the health of America's economy, deserves a

government structure to guide and work with the private sector through the transition to a

public/private partnership. Such a minor investment will allow for a bold, new and productive

Page 3



68

National Tourism Organization, which when defined and initiated will allow for effective marketing

of the United States as the unparalleled travel destination it truly is.

The travel and tourism industry respectively requests that the government work in partnership with

us to create the most productive, efficient NTO. We have the potential with such an initiative to

create an organization that will be envied the world over and which will be the epitome of profitable

"overseas promotion," benefiting not only the travel and tourism industry but our nation as a whole.

This concludes my testimony, Mr. Chairman, and I would be happy to answer any questions you or

other members of the subcommittee might have.
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TRAVEL AND TOURISM GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS COUNCIL
MEMBERSHIP

MEMBERS

Air Transport Association

Airports Council International

American Automobile Association

American Bus Association

American Car Rental Association

American Council of Highway Advertisers

American Gaming Association

American Hotel & Motel Association

American Recreation Coalition

American Sightseeing International

American Society of Travel Agents

American Travel Affairs Council, Inc.

Association of Retail Travel Agents

Gray Line Worldwide

Highway Users Federation

Hospitality Sales and Marketing Association

International

International Association of Amusement

Parks and Attractions

International Association of Convention and

Visitor Bureaus

International Council of Cruise Lines

Meeting Professionals International

NATSO, Inc.

National Air Carrier Association

National Association of RV Parks &
Campgrounds

National Business Travel Association

National Council of Area and Regional

Tourism Organizations

National Council of State Travel Directors

National Council of Travel Attractions

National Council of Urban Tourism

Organizations

National Park Hospitality Association

National Restaurant Association

National Tour Association

Recreation Vehicle Industry Association

Society of American Travel Writers

Society of Travel Agents in Government

Travel Industry Association of America

US Tour Operators Association

MEMBERS AT LARGE

Ronald W. Allen, Delta Air Lines, Inc.

Roger H. Ballou, Alamo Rent A Car, Inc.

Robert H. Dickinson, Carnival Cruise Lines,

Inc.

Michael Egan, Alamo Rent A Car, Inc.

Edward P. Faberman, American Airlines,

Inc.

Richard Fain, Royal Caribbean Cruises, Ltd.

Gregory Fisher, Allied Tours

Charles Gillett, New York Convention &
Visitors Bureau

Judson Green, Walt Disney Attractions

Darryl Hartley-Leonard, Hyatt Hotels

Corporation

Noel Invin-Hentschel, AmericanTours

International

Robert E. Juliano, Hotel Employees and

Restaurant Employees International Union

William Tiefel, Marriott Lodging

Jonathan M. Tisch, Loews Hotels
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SCHUCH-BECKERS
Touristic Services GmbH Abteilung Schuch Reisedienst

Alt-Erienbach 25

60437 Frankfurt/Mam
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HEARING SEPTEMBER 28, 1995 BEFORE THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC

POLICY AND TRADE OF THE U.S. HOUSE OF
REPRESENTATIVES

INTERNATIONAL TRADE HEARING TESTIMONY BY
. HANS GUNTHER BECKERS

Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you for allowing me the

opportunity to testify before this committee

I have over 40 years experience in the travel industry including

almost 37 years with PAN AM in Germany. My last position was

Regional Managing Director Sales Germany. In 1992 I joined my
wife's travel business and we are now engaged in retail and group

business as well as representation work specializing in the U.S.A.

This overall knowledge gives me an excellent base to support the

efforts to sell the United States.

During all those years I have seen the market grow from fewer

than 25,000 German visitors to America in 1955 to over

1 .7 Million in 1994. I can state here that much of this growth

results from the excellent cooperation between USTTA (and it's

forerunner USTS) and the travel industr>' in Germany.

I would like to add here that I was involved right from the

beginning of USTS/USTTA in cooperating with each Director and

his staff and have been a committee member right from the start.

USTTA has been able to provide leadership and produce

synergy in the Visit USA market and help create programs that

would otherwise not have materialized. We of the travel industry

Geschaftsfuhrenn Barbara Schuch-Beckers
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have always welcomed the marketing initiatives from the national

tourist office. A major factor of this success has been USTTA's
neutral position which enables all committee members to closely

cooperate to achieve the goal of increasing the overall numbers of

foreign visitors to the United States.

I have personally seen and have been involved in USTTA's
marketing projects and promotional initiatives which helped grow

the market and generate more USA business for everyone such as:

USA Pavillion at ITB Berlin in 1970 (with approx 40

exhibitors) to the current 200 US exhibitors and 100,000 total

visitors.

German delegation to Pow Wow USA from 1968 to present.

Many times I was a member of the selection committee and can

state that USTTA handled this important task most professionally.

I cannot think of any other institution accepted by the market that

could prepare this important event better.

Tour operator support for programs to new regions of USA.

Journalist Fam Trips (5-7 trips per year for total of 25-30

journalists to United States) and the wide press coverage

they generate.

Support for America Journal (circulation 50.000)

Cooperative Advertising like the US Ferienplaner, Feb/Mar
1994 for total of 1.8 Million copies circulated. One of the

destinations we represent is St. Petersburg/Clearwater Area

. CVB which is featured in this campaign as well.

Geschaflsfuhrerin: Barbara Schuch-Beckers
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USTTA newsletter with 40.000 circulation to travel trade.

Super Fam Trip for the travel trade: Visit USA West - April

29- May 7, 1994, 120 German travel agents visited 7

Western States.

Southeast Tourism Super Fam : May 5-15, 1995, 120

German travel agents visited 10 Southeast States.

USA hospitality suite/marketing reception at the annual

DRV Congress (German Travel Agency Association) with

an average of more than 1000 delegates - owners and

Managing Directors of the German travel industry.

Publication of the 'Who's Who', a most important

information brochure that lists all the tour operators in

Germany, Austria and Switzerland offering U.S. programs as

well as other valuable contacts. This is an excellent tool for

the U.S. suppliers.

There are more programs that 1 do not have the time to describe

in detail.

Part ofmy current business, as 1 mentioned before, involves the

re tail business. Many clients come to our office and say they

simply want to visit a long-haul destination (not any specific

country) for their vacation. The German tourist can choose from a

large number of such places, all with good infrastructure, sunny

weather and excellent value: South Africa. Australia. New
Zealand. Thailand. Brazil. .Argentina, Mexico, Canada and of

course the United States.

Geschaftsfuhrenn Barbara Schuch-Beckers

Bankverbindung BVB Votksbank eG Kto 441 7860 • BLZ 518 613 25 HRB 37677



73

SCHUCH-BECKERS
Touristic Services GmbH Abteilung Schuch Reisedknst

Alt-Erlenbach 25

60437 Frankfurt/Mam

Telefon. 61 01/46 27-8

Telefax 61 01/45 24

America does not sell itself to everyone, despite the prevalence

of American film, television shows, music etc. We have to

actively pursue the affluent German vacationer if we want his

business. There are over 70 national tourist offices in Germany,

over 40 alone in Frankfurt! Each and everyone invests large

amounts of money in trying to attract the German tourist.

Permanent training of travel agents - we have more than 14 000

agencies in Germany - is necessary. The large variety of

attractions in the U.S. have to be presented properly to the agents

to enable them to sell. The annual Seeheim Seminars conducted

by USTTA for 200 selected travel agents is a perfect example of

importance of education.

If the United States does not have a strong, adequately-funded

tourism developement program the country will continue to lose

market shares to those nations that recognize the importance of

tourism marketing. The tourism industry has become increasingly

competitive and only those destinations that create the right

awareness and can provide assistance and information to the trade

and public will win in this competitive environment.

We all know that if you want people's business, you have to ask

for it. If we bury our heads in the sand and just tell ourselves that

'America will sell itself, we will be sadly disappointed in the near

future.

I do hope that this huge potential market for travel to the U.S.A.

will not be abandoned.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my remarks. I will be pleased to

answer any questions you or other members of the Committee

may have.

Geschaflsfuhrenn Barbara Schuch- Beckers
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Chairman Roth, members of the subcommittee, thank you

for inviting me to submit written testimony for your

oversight hearing on the promotion of international

tourism. I appreciate the opportunity to share our

thoughts on the impact of foreign visitors on the U.S.

economy and our business at Walt Disney Attractions. The
best way I can illustrate the significance of overseas

visitors to our resorts is by pointing to how our business

has changed at Disney. In the 1970's, international guests

accounted for less than 10% of our attendance at Walt

Disney World in Florida. Today, they represent one-fourth
of our business.

But our business is just a microcosm of a much larger

national trend. In the past ten years, the number of

international travelers visiting the U.S. has nearly doubled .

And those international travelers poured more than $57
billion dollars into our economy last year.

What we are witnessing is nothing less than an explosion in

demand for global travel. And, from all reliable

projections, we are nowhere near the crest of this trend:

international travel volume will grow another 30% larger

over the next 5 years. The potential for the U.S. to

capitalize on this is significant. And, as you know,

increased international travel to the U.S. translates directly

to jobs and a stronger economy.

There's only one sour note in all of this great-sounding

news. As other nations are experiencing a windfall from

the travel boom, America's share of international tourism

revenues is declining .

According to USTTA estimates, more than a half million

fewer foreign visitors will come to the United States in

1995 than did in '94. The U.S. share of international

tourism will again drop, for the third year in a row.

The truth is, America has stronger global competition for

the tourist dollar than at any time in our history. And,

frankly, we're ill-prepared and ill-equipped for the battle.
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As we consider how our country will go forward in

marketing overseas, the Canadian government has
quadrupled its tourism investment to $50 million dollars

this year, to be matched dollar for dollar by private

industry. And, the Australian government has added
another $75 million dollars to that nation's $99 million

dollar tourism fund.

But it's not only traditional travel destinations like Canada
and Australia that are gaining speed. Second- and third-

world countries are entering the fray, as political climates

change and governments grasp the vast economic potential

of tourism.

In China, tourism has been growing by more than 10% a

year. Czechoslovakian tourism has almost tripled during
this decade. And, closer to home, Cuban tourism is now
enjoying an annual growth rate approaching 20%.

At Walt Disney World and Disneyland, we have significantly

raised our spending on international marketing, recognizing

that foreign visitors are now critical to our business.

Earlier this year, Walt Disney World launched its largest

marketing campaign to date in the United Kingdom, in

partnership with the Florida Division of Tourism and a

European travel wholesaler. The result: in an otherwise

flat year for international tourism, UK bookings to Florida

have increased by as much as 20%.

In California, Disneyland is stepping up its international

marketing, particularly to the critically important Pacific

Rim nations. There is still tremendous room for growth in

international tourism in California, growth that could have

a significant impact on the State's economy. International

tourists now account for less than 5% of all California

tourists " but they spend three to four times as many
days, and 50% more money per day, than their domestic

counterparts.
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But international tourism marketing is a task that far •

exceeds the resources of any single company. We have
learned from hard experience how quickly an isolated

event — such as an earthquake in California or news of

crimes against tourists in South Florida — can tarnish the

appeal of the entire U.S. as a travel destination.

Make no mistake, in travel marketing, image is everything. .

And when the brand image of the United States suffers, it

no longer matters how well Disney runs its theme parks or

Hyatt operates their hotels. Foreign visitors, first and
foremost, want to know that the United States is a safe
destination. That the United States is an affordable .

destination. That the United States is a "user friendly"
y

destination, one that will not impose burdensome visa and
entry requirements. And, most importantly, if we do not

work to remain "top of mind" to the millions of

international tourists through marketing and promotional
efforts, they will easily be convinced to travel to some
other destination in the world.

,

There is no overstating how much is at stake here. Travel

to the U.S. has become our Nation's leading service export
— representing a substantial trade surplus, as international

visitors last year spent $22 billion more than Americans
spent abroad.

The travel industry has also become one of our Nation's

most important engines for job creation, led only by the

healthcare field in overall employment numbers. In

Central Florida, where Walt Disney World is one of the

region's leading employers, the travel industry accounts for

one out of four jobs.

It is time for us to wake up and realize we are engaged --

like it or not •• in one of the most flercely fought wars of

this century: the battle for tourism-generated economic
growth and job creation.
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Clearly, a public sector/private sector partnership is

needed to conduct the research, build the alliances and
implement the advertising and promotions to support

"Brand U.S.A." Travel and tourism promotion provides the

strongest return on investment of any U.S. government
program, creating jobs and economic growth that far

outweigh its cost. It deserves this country's enthusiastic

and unanimous support.

I do believe the travel and tourism industry understands

the need for a new model - a model of public/private

partnership. The debate around USTTA should be focused

on how we can evolve, how we can best transition in an

orderly way over the next few months to the optimal

public/private partnership. The abrupt dismantling of the

USTTA will unfortunately severely impact our ability to

arrive at that optimal model of public/private partnership

and could potentially result in no effective partnership at

all. There's a great deal at stake for a one-time

expenditure - not an ongoing annual expenditure • of a few

million dollars.

o
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